

UNIVERSIDADE Ð COIMBRA

Bichitra Paul

CHARACTERISATION OF THE CYTOKININ MEDIATED BIOCONTROL ACTIVITY OF *CHLAMYDOMONAS REINHARDTII* AGAINST *PSEUDOMONAS SYRINGAE* IN TOBACCO AND ANALYSIS OF ITS POTENTIAL AS A BIO-STIMULANT

Dissertação no âmbito do Mestrado em Ecologia orientada pelo Professor Doutor Thomas Georg Roitsch e pela Doutora Joana Cardoso da Costa e apresentada Departamento de Ciências da Vida da Facultade de Ciências e Tecnologia da Universidade de Coimbra.

Agosto de 2019

Agradecimentos

I would like to convey my deepest appreciation to my respected supervisors, Dr. Thomas Georg Roitsch, Professor, University of Copenhagen and Dr. Joana Cardoso da Costa, Researcher, University of Coimbra. This has been the best chance for me to learn from the most erudite mentors there can ever be, providing me with guidance in both practical and theoretical methods. I offer my heartiest gratitude to Thomas and Joana for the working opportunity provided by Thomas' well-equipped laboratory as well as for both of their careful guidance, valuable advice, continuous cooperation and endless inspiration throughout the period of the presented research work.

I would like to express my gratitude to Dr. Jose Paulo Sousa, Professor, University of Coimbra, and Dr. Liliana Almeida, University of Coimbra for taking care of all the tough bureaucratic procedures so efficiently and making my academic experience in Coimbra nothing short of wonderful.

A big thanks to Dr. Freddie Jeanne, Professor, University of Poitiers and Dr. Yves Caubet, Professor, University of Poitiers for giving me the rare opportunity to study in the "International Master in Applied Ecology" Erasmus Master's program, through which my living costs were funded for two years.

A big thanks goes to my most wonderful lab members who have done everything possible for the completion of my work. Thank you Kenneth, Barbara, Chandana, Daniel and Saqib for making it easier to survive and work in this lab and mostly for being patient with me.

Last but not the least, thanks to Bordi, Zarrar, Ginevra and Hari for their never-ending support and love.

Resumo

As microalgas são um grupo grande e diversificado de microrganismos que desempenham um papel importante na agricultura onde são utilizadas como biofertilizantes. Estudos anteriores demonstraram que as microalgas têm diversos efeitos sobre as plantas, como a indução de uma germinação mais rápida, promoção do crescimento de folhas e raízes e indução da resistência a organismos patogénicos quando aplicadas no solo. As microalgas também têm a capacidade de produzir fitohormonas incluindo auxina, ácido abscísico (ABA), citocinina (CK), etileno (ET) e giberelinas (GAs).

As CK são uma classe bem conhecida de fitohormonas que desempenham um papel importante em várias funções das plantas ao longo da vida. Estes incluem o crescimento da raiz ou do rebento, a divisão celular e a senescência. Além disso, estudos recentes demonstram que as CKs também desempenham um papel significativo na defesa das plantas tendo sido registado um claro aumento das defesas contra bactérias patogénicas induzidas por microrganismos produtores de CK. De facto, foi relatado que o pré-tratamento de plantas com CKs produzidas pela estirpe G20-18 de *Pseudomonas fluorescens* mitigou a infeção por bactérias patogénicas.

O objectivo geral deste estudo foi investigar se a estirpe da microalga *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii*, produtora de CKs, poderia promover a resistência à bactéria patogénica *Pseudomonas syringae* em *Nicotiana tabacum*. Em paralelo, testou-se ainda se a mesma microalga poderia atuar como bioestimulante nutras espécies vegetais. Para atingir estes objetivos foram realizadas várias experiências em que se utilizaram duas estirpes selvagens e seis estirpes mutantes de *C. reinhardtii* (knockouts dos genes que codificam a LOG e HMBPP redutase envolvidos na produção e sinalização de CK).

Os resultados obtidos evidenciaram uma forte promoção da resistência de *N. tabacum* ao agente patogénico após infiltração com estirpes selvagens de *C. reinhardtii*. Por outro lado, as estirpes mutantes deficientes na produção e sinalização de CKs evidenciaram uma redução na promoção dessa resistência. Estes resultados comprovam que as CKs são uma parte essencial da capacidade que as microalgas têm de promover a resistência a agentes patogénicos. Em paralelo, demonstrou-se ainda que estirpes produtoras de CKs promovem o crescimento de plantas de tomateiro, tabaco e *Arabidopsis* suportando o seu papel como bioestimulante. Por fim, obtiveram-se evidências de que estas estirpes também podem estar envolvidas na indução da tolerância à seca em *Arabidopsis*.

A utilização em paralelo neste trabalho de estirpes de *C. reinhardtii* produtoras de CKs e estirpes mutantes incapazes da sua produção, permitiu concluir que a capacidade de biocontrolo, bioestimulante e tolerância à seca induzida pelas estirpes selvagens se deva à produção de CKs. Estes resultados constituem uma evidência preliminar de que a microalga *C. reinhardtii* pode constituir um potencial concorrente aos fertilizantes e produtos utilizados na agricultura convencional, e que num futuro próximo pode ser utilizada como uma solução sustentável na bio-fertilização e biocontrol.

PALAVRAS-CHAVE: Chlamydomonas reinhardtii, citocinina, bio-fertilização, biocontrol.

Abstract

Microalgae are a large and diverse group of microorganisms that play an important role in agriculture where they are used as bio-fertilisers. Previous studies have shown that microalgae have several effects on plants, such as inducing faster germination, promoting leaf and root growth and inducing resistance to pathogens when applied to soil. Microalgae also have the ability to produce phytohormones including auxin, abscisic acid (ABA), cytokinin (CK), ethylene (ET) and gibberellins (GAs).

CKs are a well-known class of phytohormones that play an important role in various plant functions throughout life. These include root or shoot growth, cell division and senescence. In addition, there is evidence that CKs also play a significant role in plant defence. This evidence comes from recent studies in which there is a clear increase in defences against pathogenic bacteria induced by CK-producing microorganisms. In fact, it has been reported that pre-treatment with CKs produced by *Pseudomonas fluorescens* strain G20-18 has mitigated infection by pathogenic bacteria in plants.

The overall objective of this study was to investigate whether a CK-producing strain of the microalgae *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii* could promote resistance to the pathogenic bacterium *Pseudomonas syringae* in *Nicotiana tabacum*. In parallel, it was also tested whether the same microalgae could act as a bio-stimulant for other plant species. To achieve these goals, several experiments were carried out using two wild type strains and six mutant strains of *C. reinhardtii* (knockouts of genes coding for LOG and HMBPP reductase involved in the production and signalling of CK).

The results showed a strong promotion of N. *tabacum* resistance to the pathogen after infiltration with the wild type strains of *C. reinhardtii*. On the other hand, mutant strains deficient in the production and signalling of CKs showed a reduction in the promotion of this resistance. These results prove that CKs are an essential part of the ability of microalgae to promote resistance to pathogens. Furthermore, the results obtained also showed that CK producing strains promote the growth of tomato, tobacco and *Arabidopsis* plants - suggesting their role as bio-stimulants. Finally, evidence has been obtained that these strains may also be involved in inducing drought tolerance in *Arabidopsis*.

The use of both wild type and KO mutant strains of *C. reinhardtii* led to the conclusion that the biocontrol capacity, bio-stimulant and drought tolerance is due to the production of CKs. These results provide preliminary evidence that the *C. reinhardtii* may be a potential competitor to conventional agricultural fertilisers and products and that soon it may be used as a sustainable solution in bio-fertilisation and biocontrol.

KEYWORDS: Chlamydomonas reinhardtii, cytokinin, bio-fertilization, biocontrol

Contents

Section	Title	Page No.
	List of abbreviations	7
	List of figures	8
	List of tables	10
1.	Introduction	11
1.1	CK Biosynthesis	11
1.2	Host-pathogen responses in plants via CKs	13
1.3	CKs role in stress responses	13
1.4	Hormonal communication between plants and microorganisms	14
1.5	The role of beneficial microbes in host responses to pathogens	15
1.6	Phytohormone production in beneficial microbes	15
1.7	Bio-stimulant and bio-fertiliser activity of microalgae	16
1.8	Microalgae as a phytohormone producer	17
2.	Aim of the work	19
3.	Materials and Methods	21
3.1	Chlamydomonas reinhardtii strains	21
3.2	Chl culturing and maintenance	22
3.3	Pseudomonas syringae pv. tabaci culturing and maintenance	24
3.4	Planting of Nicotiana tabacum	24
3.5	Chl solutions preparation	24
3.6	Preparation of PstT and infiltration	25
3.7	Infiltration experiments on NT for symptom development	26
3.8	Bacterial quantification experiment	28
3.9	Antimicrobial activity	28
3.10	Optical Microscopy	34
3.11	Algal promoted in vitro tomato seed germination	34
3.12	Algal promoted growth assay of tomato and NT	34
3.13	Drought tolerance experiment in Arabidopsis	36
4.	Results	37
4.1	Priming with microalgae decreased symptoms caused by PstT in NT	37
4.1.1	WT CC-125 versus 2-LOG KOs	37
4.1.2	WT CC-5325 versus cLOG KO	46
4.2.3	WT CC-5325 versus HMBPP KO	48

4.2	Priming with microalgae inhibited the proliferation of PstT in NT	51
4.2.1	WT CC-125 versus 2-LOG KOs	51
4.2.2	WT CC-5325 versus cLOG KO	55
4.2.3	WT CC-5325 versus HMBPP KO	56
4.3	Microalgae extract showed no in vitro antimicrobial activity against PstT	58
4.4	Microalgae inhibited pathogen multiplication in NT	58
4.5	Microalgae induced drought tolerance in Arabidopsis	60
4.6	Microalgae promoted tomato seed germination	63
4.7	Microalgae promoted the growth of NT and tomato	66
5.	Discussion	68
5.1	Algae solutions	68
5.2	Pathogen resistance promotion in NT	69
5.3	Chl-mutant strains testing	70
5.4	Antimicrobial activity screening of leaves infiltrated with microalgae	72
5.5	Algae as a bio-stimulant	73
5.6	Role of Chl in response to abiotic stress in plants	74
5.7	Further perspectives with Chl	75
6.	Conclusion	77
	Appendix	78
	References	81

List of Abbrevations

•	045820	LMJ.RY0402.045820 KO mutant strain
•	200648	LMJ.RY0402.200648 KO mutant strain
•	ABA	Abscisic acid
•	BRs	Brassinosteroids
•	CC 125	Cre CC-125 wild type Chlamydomonas reinhardtii
٠	CC 5325	Cre CC-5325 wild type Chlamydomonas reinhardtii
٠	Chl	Chlamydomonas reinhardtii
٠	СК	Cytokinin
٠	CLiP	Chlamydomonas library project
٠	cLOG	LMJ.RY0402.200648 KO mutant strain
•	cZ	cis-Zeatin
•	D	Drought – treated
•	DMAPP	Dimethylallyl diphosphate
•	DPI	Days Post Infection
•	DZ	Dihydrozeatin
•	ET	Ethylene
•	GA	Gibberellins
•	HMBPP	LMJ.RY0402.045820 KO mutant strain
•	HMBPP reductase	4-Hydroxy-3-methyl-but-2-enyl pyrophosphate reductase
٠	iP	isopentenyl adedine
٠	IPP	isopentenyl phosphate
٠	IPT	isopentenyl transferase
٠	JA	Jasmonic Acid
•	KO	Knockout
•	LOG	Lonely Guy Gene
•	MEP	Methylerythritol phosphate pathway
•	MS	Murashige and Skoog medium
•	MVA	Mevalonate pathway
•	NT	Nicotiana tabacum
•	OD	Optical density
•	PH 144	PH 144 (2-LOG) CRISPR/Cas9 KO mutant
•	PH 145	PH 145 (2-LOG) CRISPR/Cas9 KO mutant
•	PH 146	PH 146 (2-LOG) CRISPR/Cas9 KO mutant
•	PH 147	PH 147 (2-LOG) CRISPR/Cas9 KO mutant
٠	PstT	Pseudomonas syringae pv. tabaci
٠	RPM	Revolutions per minute
٠	SA	Salicylic Acid
٠	SWC	Soil Water Content
٠	tΖ	trans-Zeatin
٠	WT	Wild Type

• WW Well-watered

List of figures

Figure no.	Title	Page No.
1.1	Structures of the naturally occurring isoprenoid CKs	11
1.2	Current model of isoprenoid CK biosynthesis pathways in Arabidopsis	12
1.3	Overview of the beneficial effects which microalgae have on the plant and soil	17
2.1	Overall plans of the various experiments performed in this project to explore the CK-dependent biocontrol properties as well as the bio-stimulant properties of <i>Chlamydomonas reinhardtii</i>	20
3.1	Experimental setup of pathogen symptom development determination	27
3.2	Scheme of the sodium salt and EDTA based extraction protocol for antimicrobial activity screening of plant extracts	30
3.3	Experimental setup of antimicrobial activity determination for disc diffusion assays	30
3.4	Scheme of ethanol and methanol-based extractions to detect the antimicrobial activity of plant extracts	33
3.5	Scheme of the algal promoted growth assay of tobacco and tomato	35
4.1	Symptoms observed in the NT leaves at 72h, 96h and 168h of experimental time by scoring the patch of the leaf which was primed with the respective Chl strains CC 125 and PH 144 first, and then infiltrated with PstT at 48h.	38
4.2	Examples of symptoms caused by PstT in NT leaves treated with WT CC 125 and mutant PH 144 at 72h, 96h and 168h experimental time	39
4.3	Symptoms observed in the NT leaves at 72h, 96h and 168h of experimental time by scoring the patch of the leaf which was primed with the respective Chl strains CC 125 and PH 145 first, and then infiltrated with PstT at 48h.	41
4.4	Examples of symptoms caused by PstT in NT leaves treated with WT CC 125 and mutant PH 145 at 72h, 96h and 168h experimental time	42
4.5	Symptoms observed in the NT leaves at 72h, 96h and 168h of experimental time by scoring the patch of the leaf which was primed with the respective Chl strains CC 125 and PH 146 first, and then infiltrated with PstT at 48h.	43
4.6	Examples of symptoms caused by PstT in NT leaves treated with WT CC 125 and mutant PH 146 at 72h, 96h and 168h experimental time	44
4.7	Symptoms observed in the NT leaves at 72h, 96h and 168h of experimental time by scoring the patch of the leaf which was primed with the respective Chl strains CC 125 and PH 147 first, and then infiltrated with PstT at 48h.	45
4.8	Examples of symptoms caused by PstT in NT leaves treated with WT CC 125 and mutant PH 147 at 72h, 96h and 168h experimental time	46
4.9	Symptoms observed in the NT leaves at 72h, 96h and 168h treated with 200648	47
4.10	Examples of symptoms caused by PstT in NT leaves treated with WT CC 5325 and mutant 200648 at 72h, 96h and 168h experimental time	48
4.11	Symptoms observed in the NT leaves at 72h, 96h and 168h treated with 045820	49
4.12	Examples of symptoms caused by PstT in NT leaves treated with WT CC 5325 and mutant 045820 at 72h, 96h and 168h experimental time	50
4.13	PstT numbers in NT leaf disks treated with CC 125 suspension, CC 125 extract, PH 144 suspension, PH 144 extract and mock at 48h, 72h and 96h experimental time	52

4.14	PstT numbers in NT leaf disks treated with CC 125 suspension, CC 125 extract, PH 145 suspension, PH 145 extract and mock at 48h, 72h and 96h experimental time	53
4.15	PstT numbers in NT leaf disks treated with CC 125 suspension, CC 125 extract, PH 146 suspension, PH 146 extract and mock at 48h, 72h and 96h experimental time	54
4.16	PstT numbers in NT leaf disks treated with CC 125 suspension, CC 125 extract, PH 147 suspension, PH 147 extract and mock at 48h, 72h and 96h experimental time	55
4.17	PstT numbers in NT leaf disks treated with CC 5325 suspension, CC 5325 extract, 200648 suspension, 200648 extract and mock at 48h, 72h and 96h experimental time	56
4.18	PstT numbers in NT leaf disks treated with CC 5325 suspension, CC 5325 extract, 045820 suspension, 045820 extract and mock at 48h, 72h and 96h experimental time	57
4.19	NT leaves primed with CC 5325 and then infiltrated with PstT vs primed with water and then infiltrated with PstT as seen under a Leica 2000 DM microscope at one, two and four DPI	60
4.20	Drought tolerance experiment results on <i>Arabidopsis</i> plants primed with different solutions of CC 125 microalgae	61
4.21	Number of plants which survived a drought of 7 days out of the given treatments	62
4.22	Average soil water content (SWC) of plants subject to various microalgae treatments under well-watered (WW) and drought treated (D) conditions	63
4.23	Percentage of germinated tomato seeds (var. moneymaker) from each treatment solution four days after inoculation with microalgae	64
4.24	Percentage of germinated tomato seeds (var. moneymaker) from each treatment solution five days after inoculation with microalgae	65
4.25	Germinated tomato seeds in Petri dishes five days after inoculation with water, CC 125 supernatant, PH 144 supernatant and PH 147 supernatant	65
4.26	Comparison between the average weights of NT plants inoculated with different treatments of CC 125 solutions at their seedling stage	66
4.27	Comparison between a tobacco seedling previously treated with water and CC 125 live solution	47
5.1	The combined growth stimulation, abiotic stress tolerance promoter and biocontrol capability of <i>Chlamydomonas reinhardtii</i>	76
A1	Examples of antimicrobial activity results with disk diffusion assays and broth microdilution assays	78
A2	Pictures of the Petri dishes of all the treatments of the algal promoted seed germination experiments	79
A3	Comparison of the average weights of tomato plants inoculated with different treatments of CC 125 solutions at their seedling stage	80

List of tables

Table no.	Title	Page No.
3.1	List of wild type and mutant strains <i>Chlamydomonas reinhardtii</i> used in the experiments	21
3.2	Composition of HAP medium	22
3.3	Composition of TAP salts	23
3.4	Composition of Phosphate solution	23
3.5	Composition of Hutner's Trace Elements	23
3.6	Composition of LB medium	24
3.7	Classification of P. syringae infection symptoms in N. tabacum	27
4.1	Summary of the effect of the various Chl treatments on symptom development of NT leaves infiltrated with PstT	51
4.2	Summary of the effect of the various Chl treatments on bacterial count of PstT in NT leaves infiltrated with the said pathogen	58

1.Introduction

Most plants do not have locomotor functions so they cannot escape stress situations, be they biotic or abiotic. Hence, they have evolved by developing highly regulated strategies involving a multitude of compounds to address such situations, namely attack by pathogens. Perhaps the most important of these compounds are the phytohormones (plant hormones), which play a crucial role in helping the plant to cope with stressful situations. These compounds are growth hormones, such as auxins, cytokinins (CKs), gibberellins (GA) and brassinosteroids (BRs) (Davies 1995). CKs are hormones which influence the plant throughout various stages of their life cycle, such as shoot initiation, cell division, leaf senescence, sink/source relationships, nutrient uptake, flower development, vascular proliferation, female gametophyte development, etc. (Roitsch, Ehneß 2000; Hwang, Sheen, Müller 2012; Kieber, Schaller 2014; Wybouw, Rybel 2019).

1.1 CK Biosynthesis

Chemically, CKs are adenine derivatives with distinguishable substitutions attached to the N⁶ position of the adenine ring. Most naturally occuring CKs have isoprenoid side chains, isopentenyladedine (iP), trans-Zeatin (tZ), cis-Zeatin (cZ) and Dihydrozeatin (DZ) as illustrated in Figure 1.1 (Sakakibara 2006).



Figure 1.1: Structures of the naturally occuring isoprenoid CKs (Sakakibara 2006)

Even till now, the actual process of CKs biosynthesis has not been fully understood. However, it is almost universally accepted that there are two distinct pathways which play a role in it, namely the Methylerythritol Phosphate Pathway (MEP) and the Mevalonate Pathway (MVA).

In the MEP pathway, the hydroxymethylbutenyl diphosphate is converted to dimethylallyl diphosphate (DMAPP). Then the DMAPP is transformed to isopentenyladedine (iP), by isopentenyl transferase (IPT), and then to tZ and DZ (Sakakibara 2006; Chang, Song, Liu, Liu 2013; Kieber, Schaller 2014). Although tZ and cZ are isomers, there is almost no interconversion between the *cis* and *trans* forms of Zeatin (Gajdošová et al., 2011).

In the MVA pathway, acetyl CoA is converted to isopentenyl phosphate (IPP) and its isomer DMAPP, and while the initial general consensus was that the MVA pathway was the sole producer of CK precursors, many recent studies have shown that it is the MEP pathway that produces the bulk of CKs, and only cZ is produced by the MVA pathway (Figure 1.2) (Kasahara et al., 2004; Sakakibara 2006; Chang et al., 2013; Kieber, Schaller 2014).



Figure 1.2: Current model of isoprenoid CK biosynthesis pathways in *Arabidopsis*. This shows that the isoprenoid sidechains of the iP and tZ originate predominantly from the MEP pathway, while a major fraction of the cZ chain comes from the MVA pathway (Adapted from Sakakibara, 2006).

1.2 Host-pathogen responses in plants via CKs

For a long time, salicylic acid (SA), jasmonic acid (JA) and ethylene (ET) were described to be the main players in the plant defence responses, but in the past decade a lot of studies have demonstrated that abscisic acid, GA, CK, auxin and BRs are also vital for the immune responses of plants, even though these hormones are mainly associated with abiotic stress or developmental processes (Pieterse et al. 2012; Shigenaga, Argueso 2016). In fact, it is now evident that it is a synergistic interaction between the various hormones that provides immunity to the plant, such as between CKs and ABA (Ha et al. 2012). This is since invading pathogens have different and unique strategies to infect plants, hence it only makes sense that this complicated interconnected mesh of different defence responses helps the plant to fight back these pathogens.

With respect to the host physiology, pathogens can be divided into biotrophic or necrotrophic pathogens. Biotrophic pathogens need the host plant cells to stay alive to derive its nutrients, while necrotrophic pathogens must kill its host to get nutrients from it (Glazebrook 2005). Interestingly, *Pseudomonas syringae* is a pathogen which is both biotrophic and necrotrophic. When it initially infects a leaf, it acts like a biotrophic pathogen, but *P. syringae* gradually kills the infected tissue, resulting in a necrotrophic pathogen. Hence, it is referred to as a hemi-biotrophic pathogen (Rico, Preston 2008).

1.3 CKs Role in Stress Responses

As already mentioned, CKs are a group of phytohormones that aid the plant in growth functions (Argueso, Ferreira, Keiber 2009). Recently, CKs have also been linked to biotic stress responses and involved in the defence strategy of plants against invading pathogens (Argueso et al. 2012). However, some studies which used exogenous CKs to investigate their role in biotic stress responses had mixed success (Clarke et al. 1998; Babosha 2009). Eventually, some experiments using *Arabidopsis* helped establish the role of CKs in plant pathogen resistance, where it was demonstrated that certain concentrations of CKs could reduce the growth of the biotrophic and hemi-biotrophic pathogens *Hyaloperonospora arabidopsis* and *P. syringae*, respectively. Once the experiments were dependent on CK receptors, they conclusively proved that it was in fact the CK-regulated physiological process that caused the resistance in plants (Choi et al. 2010; Argueso et al. 2012). In addition to this, a recent study has successfully demonstrated that application of CKs, or using a high CK-producing strain,

also stimulates the activation of a defence response against nematode infection, which further expands the scope of the plant pathogen interactions in which CKs are involved in (Shanks et al. 2016).

1.4 Hormonal Communication between plants and microorganisms

Plants are not standalone creatures since they interact with other living organisms. What is interesting is the spectrum of plant-microbe interactions ranging from positive to negative interactions, such as commensalism, mutualism and pathogenesis (or parasitism) (Ghosh, Chowdhury, Bhattacharya 2016).

For instance, the bacteria *Rhizobium* sp. sends a hormonal signal to the plant, which causes it to form a nodular formation on its roots that helps the plant to fixate nitrogen from the air (Child 1975). Biotrophic pathogens also communicate with the plant while living inside a part of it, such as in the leaf (Ciesielska et al. 2014). Plants and microorganisms communicate with each other by using hormones or effectors. These effectors produced by microorganisms can trigger hormonal responses in the plant, which in turn triggers another hormonal response in the microorganism and so on.

This evolutionary arms race between plants and pathogens has created a kind of "hormonal conversation" between them during the infection process (Jones, Dangl 2006). Different effectors from pathogens induce different responses in plants, as different species of plants react differently when introduced to the same pathogen (Verhage, van Wees, Pieterse 2010). For example, in *Arabidopsis* sp. resistance is induced through SA production (Choi et al. 2010), while in *Nicotiana tabacum* the defence responses are upregulated by the increased production of the phytoalexins scopoletin and capsidiol (Großkinsky et al. 2011).

It has also been demonstrated that some microorganisms synthesize CK in order to resemble the CKs from the plant, or might even utilise the CKs produced by the plants for their own gain (Greene 1980). The CKs receptors in the plants bind to both plant and microorganism produced CKs, but they result in different molecular outputs (Ciesielska et al. 2014). Many biotrophic pathogens utilise this CK communication tool to promote unusual development or symptoms in plants for their own benefit. For example, the part of the leaf that is infected can "stay alive" longer than its surrounding tissue, a phenomenon referred to as "green islands" on dead leaves (Walters, McRoberts 2006). CKs production by pathogens can also lead to gall formation, which is an essential aspect for the lifestyle of many biotrophic pathogens (Hwang, Sheen, Müller 2012; Naseem, Kaltdorf, Dandekar 2015). This nutrient mobilisation effect that CKs have on plant tissue creates sinks in the "sink-source"

relationship of sugars in plants. This is why the CK production by many pathogens is an imperative tool for the invasion of pathogens on the desired tissue (Roitsch, González 2004; Choi et al. 2010).

1.5 The role of beneficial microbes in host responses to pathogens

Several microorganisms have been described as beneficial for plants (Kumar, Karthikeyan, Prasanna 2016). An example of this positive effect is the promotion of growth, such as the different types of rhizobacteria that have a symbiotic relationship with plants helping them to obtain nutrients from the soil (Ciesielska et al. 2014). Other examples of such interactions are biological nitrogen fixation from the air, bacterial enhancement of phosphate availability and also the bacterial production of phytohormones, such as auxins and CKs, that increase plant growth (Ortíz-Castro, Valencia-Cantero, López-Bucio 2008). Diseases caused by pathogens can be mediated in plants through a wide range of mechanisms. For instance, in soil, beneficial microbes can compete for nutrients in a way that inhibits the growth of pathogens; also some beneficial microbes may directly inhibit the growth of pathogens can induce resistance towards a potentially invading pathogen (Grondona et al. 1997; Sarma et al. 2002; Lucas et al. 2009; Bashan et al. 2014).

1.6 Phytohormone production in beneficial microbes

Many recent studies have delved deeper into understanding the mechanisms by which these beneficial microbes provide this biological resistance to plants. For example, the pre-treatment of plants with these microorganisms resulted in a form of priming of the defence responses. By priming the plant for an imminent infection, the plant can easily overcome the pathogen attack and as a result the plant is not affected as badly (Haas, Défago 2005). Many of these beneficial microbes that prime the plant achieve this effect by using phytohormones (Wu et al. 2009; Park et al. 2017). What is fascinating is that several microorganisms prime the plant by using CKs (Wu et al. 2009; Marimuthu et al. 2013). A recent study showed that injecting a CK producing strain of *Pseudomonas fluorescens* G20-18 in leaves of *Arabidopsis thaliana* induced pathogenic resistance in the plant. For further confirmation, this bacterial strain was genetically altered in order to halt CK production, and it was observed that this altered strain did not provide the same resistance as its predecessor. Then, a "regain of function"

mutant was created, and this mutant restored the immunity against invading pathogens. Thus, this evidence suggests that in this bacterial strain CKs caused the observed promotion in resistance in plants (Großkinsky et al. 2016).

1.7 Bio-stimulant and bio-fertiliser activity of microalgae

Microalgae are microscopic photosynthetic organisms that live in both marine and freshwater environments, as well as in soil, so a lot of research has also been going on to address the beneficial role of microalgae in soil (Babu et al. 2015; Garcia-gonzalez, Sommerfeld 2016; Ghaderiardakani et al. 2019; Kholssi et al. 2019). The term microalgae refer to both eukaryotic and prokaryotic microorganisms that have a photosynthetic apparatus. For a long time, the use of macroalgae as bio-fertiliser in agricultural fields was a well-known practice (Swarnalakshmi et al. 2013; Michalak et al. 2016; Hamed et al. 2018). Also, various microalgae species administered at optimised concentrations have been demonstrated to boost production of crop plants such as eggplant (Dias et al. 2016), wheat (Swarnalakshmi et al. 2013; Michalak et al. 2016) and rice (Paudel et al. 2012; Priya et al. 2015). Recently, *Spirulina* based fertilisers have been proven to enhance growth in leafy vegetables such as Arugula (*Eruca sativa*), Bayam Red (*Ameranthus gangeticus*) and Pak Choy (*Brassica rapa* ssp.*chinensis*) (Wuang et al. 2016).

Microalgae positively stimulates many different processes for the benefit of the plant, such as nitrogen fixation, solubilisation of macro-and micronutrients, biocidial properties, photosynthesis, production of growth hormones, etc (summarised in Figure 1.3) (Renuka et al. 2018). Many scientists believe that microalgae could be a major player in the growing field of sustainable agriculture since they have many beneficial properties and are well established promoters of growth in plants (Win et al. 2018).



Figure 1.3: Overview of the beneficial effects which microalgae have on the plant and soil (adapted from Renuka et al., 2018).

1.8 Microalgae as a phytohormone producer

Microalgae have proved to not only promote growth in plants, but also act as pathogen resistance inducers. Cyanobacteria present in composts have been demonstrated to promote resistance towards pathogens in tomato, cotton and zucchini (Dukare et al. 2011; Babu et al. 2015; Roberti et al. 2015). Pathogen resistance has also been demonstrated in plants by applying microalgae directly to the soil (Kulik 1995; Biondi et al. 2004; Prasanna et al. 2013; Babu et al. 2015; Prasanna et al. 2015).

Various studies have been carried to further investigate how microalgae confer this resistance to the plants, where they have extracted various micro-algal compounds and how these extracts, in some cases, hinder directly the growth of different pathogens (Hellio et al. 2000; Kim, Kim 2008; Paulert et al. 2009; Jaulneau et al. 2010; Stadnik, Freitas 2014). There has been however no clear universal consensus on which hormonal or biochemical pathways the different microalgae extracts are hindering.

In one study, the plant pathogen response was shown to be promoted by ulvans, which are heteropolysaccharides from green algae of genus *Ulva*, and this induced pathogen response was shown to be dependent on JA signalling (Jaulneau 2010). Another study proposed that microalgae produce compounds which mimic those of pathogens, which then "tricks" the plant into thinking that it is infected, hence starting the defence responses (Stadnik, Freitas 2014). Another theory proposes that microalgae provide extra nutrients to the soil, making the plant more "fit", becoming easier for the plant to prevent pathogen attack (Babu et al. 2015). Overall, it has been described that both polysaccharides and phytohormones promote pathogen resistance in plants (Burketova et al. 2015; Singh et al. 2017).

Algae naturally produce phytohormones, namely CKs, in a broad range of profiles and levels (Jirásková et al. 2009; Hussain et al. 2010; Stirk et al. 2013; Žižková et al. 2016; Renuka et al. 2018). However, no connections have been made, so far, between the phytohormone production in microalgae and plant resistance promotion.

Chlamydomonas reinhardtii is a microalgae which naturally produces a large amount of CKs (Tian et al. 2006; Park et al. 2013). Hence, it would not be farfetched to assume that this alga may provide pathogen resistance to plants. Further investigation using knockout mutants in the CK biosynthesis pathway of these algae would probably prove CK's role in the induced pathogen defence responses of plants.

2. Aim of the work

This project aimed to characterize the cytokinin (CK) mediated biocontrol activity of *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii* (Chl) against *Pseudomonas syringae* pv. *tabaci* (PstT) infections in *Nicotiana tabacum* (*N. tabacum* or NT).

It also aimed to analyse the potential of Chl as a bio-stimulant in various crop species in order to combine its biocontrol activity with other beneficial properties to pave the way for making environmentally safe biocontrol agents.

In this sense, three hypotheses emerged that were addressed in this project:

- Can CK producing microalgae increase plant pathogen resistance?
- Is the inter-organism interaction mediated by phytohormones (CK)?
- Can microalgae have a bio-stimulating effect on cultivated species?

In order to validate our hypothesis, six mutants and two wild-type strains of Chl were used. The Chlamydomonas Library Project (CLiP) is an online collection of Chl mutants. From this collection two mutant strains related with CK-deficiency were purchased and used in the experiments. To bring the project closer to characterization of the underlying mechanism of CK effect, newly developed CRISPR/Cas9 Chl mutants were also used along with the already mentioned online ordered mutants from the CLiP project.

The mutants affected in CK biosynthesis were used to functionally address the role of CKs in a causal – analytical way: this is a very important part of the study since it moves the studies from correlative observations to a functional level, allowing much stronger conclusions on the role of CK production by the algae and the resistance mechanism.

A combination of various experiments which use either mutant Chls or wild types or both, helped us to bring closer to understanding the mechanisms of how this microalga foster nutrition as well as bio-protection to plants (Figure 2.1).



Figure 2.1: Overall plans of the various experiments performed in this project to explore the CK-dependent biocontrol properties as well as the bio-stimulant properties of *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii*.

3. Materials and Methods

3.1 Chlamydomonas reinhardtii strains

Both wild type and mutant strains (Table 3.1) of *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii* (Chl) were used in the various experiments depending on the objective. Two types of mutant strains were used –

- i) **CLiP mutants**: Mutants ordered online from the Chlamydomonas Library Project (Li et al. 2016; Li et al. 2019).
- ii) CRISPR/Cas9 mutants: Custom-made mutants from a collaborating laboratory in Germany using the CRISPR/Cas9 gene editing technology. All the CRISPR/Cas9 mutants used were clones of each other. CRISPR/Cas9 is a new revolutionary method which allows for precise targeted genome editing, resulting in well-defined mutants by utilizing the CRISPR-associated protein-9 nuclease of the *Streptococcus pyogenes* bacteria (Ran et al. 2013).

Name	Туре	Abbreviation	Description
Cre CC-5325	Wild type	CC 5325	High CK producing Wild type strain
Cre CC-125	Wild type	CC 125	High CK producing Wild type strain
LMJ.RY0402.045820	CLiP KO mutant	HMBPP / 045820	CC-5325 derived CK mutant where 4-Hydroxy-3-methyl-but-2- enyl pyrophosphate reductase (responsible for formation of CK precursor) is knocked out
LMJ.RY0402.200648	CLiP KO mutant	cLOG / 200648	CC-5325 derived CK mutant where a portion of the coding region of the Lonely guy gene (responsible for CK synthesis activation) is knocked out
PH 144 2-LOG (Cre07.g340900)	CRISPR/Cas9 KO mutant	PH 144	CC-125 derived CK mutant where Lonely guy gene (responsible for CK synthesis activation) is knocked out. The mutation is in portion Cre07.g340900 of the gene.

Table 3.1: List of wild type and mutant strains Chlamydomonas reinhardtii used in the experiments

PH 145 2-LOG	CRISPR/Cas9 KO mutant	PH 145	CC-125 derived CK mutant where
(Cre07.g340900)			Lonely guy gene (responsible for
			CK synthesis activation) is
			knocked out. The mutation is in
			portion Cre07.g340900 of the
			gene.
PH 146 2-LOG	CRISPR/Cas9 KO mutant	PH 146	CC-125 derived CK mutant where
(Cre07.g340900)			Lonely guy gene (responsible for
			CK synthesis activation) is
			knocked out. The mutation is in
			portion Cre07.g340900 of the
			gene.
PH 147 2-LOG	CRISPR/Cas9 KO mutant	PH 147	CC-125 derived CK mutant where
(Cre07.g340900)			Lonely guy gene (responsible for
			CK synthesis activation) is
			knocked out. The mutation is in
			portion Cre07.g340900 of the
			gene.

3.2 Chl culturing and maintenance

The microalgae strains were grown in 150 mL liquid HAP medium (Table 3.2) in Erlenmeyer flasks, spinning at 120 RPM at 23°C at 12h/12h day/night cycle. Cultures were kept as stock and experimental cultures. All the microalgae used in these experiments were taken from these Erlenmeyer flasks. Microalgae cultures used in experiments were inoculated every two weeks prior to experimental use. Inoculation was performed by transferring 1 mL of liquid stock culture to experimental flasks. Also, Chl cultures were maintained in solid HAP medium for backup and in case of contamination were initially plated on HAP plates with 10 μ g/mL nalidixic acid (in 0.4M NaOH) and 40 μ g/mL carbendazim (in water) to remove bacterial and fungal contamination (Mahan et al., 2005; Wang et al., 2016).

Table 3.2:	Composition	of HAP	medium
------------	-------------	--------	--------

Reagent	Composition for 1 L
TAP salts (Table 3)	25.00 ml
0.5 M HEPES	10.00 ml
1.0 M Na acetate	10.00 ml
Phosphate solution (Table 4)	0.375 mL

Hutner's trace (Table 5)	1.00 mL
Agar (for solid media)	15.00 g
H2O	up to 1 L

Stock Solutions

Table 3.3: Composition of TAP salts

Reagent	Molecular Weight [g/Mol]	For 1 L [g]
NH₄CI	53.49	15
MgSO ₄ .7H ₂ O	246.47	4
CaCl ₂ .2H ₂ O	147.02	2
H ₂ O		Up to 1 L

Table 3.4: Composition of Phosphate solution

Reagent	Molecular Weight [g/Mol]	For 1 L [g]
K₂HPO₄	174.18	280.8
MgSO ₄ .7H ₂ O	136.09	140.4
H ₂ O		Up to 1 L

Table 3.5: Composition of Hutner's Trace Elements

Reagent	Molecular Weight	For 100 mL [g]		
EDTA, disodium salt	372.2	5.0		
H ₃ BO ₃	61.83	0.145		
ZnSO ₄ .7H ₂ O	287.54	0.01		
MnCl ₂ .4H ₂ O	197.9	0.09		
FeSO ₄ .7H ₂ O	278.01	0.499		
CoCl ₂ .6H ₂ O	237.95	0.161		
CuSO ₄ .5H ₂ O	249.68	0.157		
(NH ₄) ₆ Mo7O ₂₄ .4H ₂ O	1235.86	0.11		
H ₂ O		Up to 1 L		

3.3 *Pseudomonas syringae* pv. *tabaci* culturing and maintenance

Pseudomonas syringae pv. *tabaci* (PstT) stock culture was grown on LB medium plates (Table 3.6) with tetracycline (20 mg/L) at 28°C for 24h (or 48h if in some cases there was less growth). After that they were stored at 4°C. Fresh cultures were made every other week by re-plating. LB medium was autoclaved over 2 hours and then brought down to 60°C before the antibiotic addition.

Reagent	For 1 L [g]
Yeast Extract	5.0
Sodium Chloride (NaCl)	10.0
Tryptone	10.0
Agar – agar (Only for solid medium)	15.0
Tetracycline	0.02
Demineralised water (H ₂ O)	Upto 1 L

Table 3.6: Composition of LB medium

3.4 Planting of Nicotiana tabacum

Nicotiana tabacum (NT) seeds were put in 15 cm pot with soil soaked in a fungus-gnat controlling agent (Gnatrol SC 30 mL/5L) and water, in a cold room for 3 days, before being put in a growth chamber at 13°C. 1-2 weeks after germination, the seedlings were then replanted into a 12 cm pot soaked in fungus-gnat controlling agent and water, and put in the greenhouse (at 20°C to 24°C and 16 h/8 h day/night cycle). After 2 weeks of growth in 16h/8h day/night cycle, the plants were replanted into bigger 15 cm pots soaked in a fungus gnat controlling agent and water. A distance has been maintained between the tobacco plants and yellow sticky traps were installed to control pests (e.g. white flies).

3.5 Chl solutions preparation

In most experiments, both live microalgae and microalgae extracts were used. This was to test whether the mechanism behind the biocontrol was connected to the algae being alive or if extracts were more efficient as is makes the contents inside the microalgae cells more available.

Extracts were made on the same day as the plants were inoculated with microalgae. In some experiments, microalgae culture was also used.

Microalgae live suspension (also called microalgae suspension): Microalgae were transferred to a 50 mL falcon tube and centrifuged for 30 min at 20°C. **Supernatant** was discarded for some experiments and saved in a separate tube for the seed germination experiments. Then, the pellet was weighed. Demineralized autoclaved water was added to the algae pellet to obtain a suspension of 75 g algae/L water.

Microalgae Extract: For extractions, an aliquot of the microalgae solution was placed in a 100 mL beaker and microwaved at 1000 W for 1 min and subsequently 270 W for 4 min (McMillan 2013). The extract was then transferred into a 50 mL falcon tube and cooled down to room temperature before further use.

Microalgae culture: Microalgae were grown in liquid HAP media for two weeks prior to their use, and the microalgae were taken directly from Erlenmeyer flasks and used in experiments without any treatments.

3.6 Preparation of PstT and infiltration

With a pipette tip, PstT obtained from 1-week old main stock was transferred to 4-5 mL LB-medium with tetracycline. This culture was then incubated at 28°C overnight shaking at 110 RPM. Approximately 1 mL of the overnight culture was transferred to 50 mL LB medium, incubated at 28°C, and harvested at OD of 0.4-0.8.

The culture was transferred into 50 mL falcon tube and centrifuged at 3500 RPM at 4°C for 10 min. The supernatant was discarded, and the pellet was re-suspended and diluted in 10 mM MgCl₂ to OD of 0.2. The cell suspension was infiltrated on 6-8 weeks old NT plants using a needleless syringe in the abaxial side of the leaf.

3.7 Infiltration experiments on NT for symptom development

To characterize the symptom development caused by PstT, infiltration experiments were performed. The time from which the leaves were primed with Chl was considered as 0h experimental time, and the development of symptom on the leaves was scored at 72h, 96h and 168h experimental time. Infiltration experiments on NT were performed with Chl strains PH 144, PH 145, PH 146, PH 147, 200648 and 045820, along with their respective wild type Chl strains (CC 125 and CC 5325). There were two repetitions of the experiments with the CRISPR/Cas9 mutants, while the experiments with the CLiP mutants were done only once.

In an infiltration experiment, 5 plants were inoculated with two different Chl strains as a pre-treatment prior to pathogen infiltration. On each plant, two leaves were pre-treated, each with one of the two Chl WT strains. In addition, each microalgae strain was applied as twice, one in the form of suspension and in the other has extract. Mock treatment (water infiltration) was included as a negative control.

Leaves were divided into three areas (Figure 3.1):

- Mock solution (left to midrib)
- Chl Suspension (upper right to midrib)
- Chl Extract (lower right to midrib)

These areas were located between the leaf veins on each side of the midrib. Each of these areas were sub-divided into 3 sections.

- Pathogen-only (section closest to the midrib)
- Pathogen and pre-treatment overlapping (Mid-section)
- Pre-treatment-only (section closest to the leaf edge)



Figure 3.1: Experimental setup of pathogen symptom development determination.

At 48h experimental time the leaves were infiltrated with PstT as mentioned above. The leaves were photographed every 24h hours subsequently to the infiltration, for 4 days. The symptoms were then evaluated into symptom scores where each overlapping section was scored from 0 to 5. The score was given in relation to the percentage of observed necrosis on leaves. No symptoms were scored as 0, while 100 % necrosis was scored as 5 (Table 3.7).

Table 3.7: Classification of I	² . syringae	infection	symptoms	in N.	tabacum.	The p	percentages	of
symptom development corres	pond to the	symptom	ns as seen i	nside	the black o	circles.	-	

Category (score)	0	0.5	1	2	3	4	5
Symptoms	No symptoms	≤ 75 % Chlorosis	> 75 % Chlorosis	≤ 10 % Necrosis	11-50 % Necrosis	51-75 % Necrosis	76-100 % Necrosis
Symptoms in <i>N. tabacum</i>		\bigcirc			0		\bigcirc

3.8 Bacterial quantification experiment

Leaves were infiltrated with microalgae strains, and after 48 hours they were infiltrated with PstT in the same manner has described in the previous section. Leaves across 5 plants were divided into 5 areas:

- Two areas for microalgae suspension,
- Two areas for microalgae extracts
- One area for mock treatment.

From each area, 0.5 mm leaf discs were collected in Microtube tubes every 24h, for 3 days post infection with PstT. The discs were grounded in 200 μ L of 10 mM MgCl₂ using a sterilized pistil and filled to 1 mL. Afterwards, a 10-fold dilution was made by transferring 100 μ L to another Eppendorf tube with 900 μ L of 10mM MgCl₂. Both the original solution and the diluted samples were plated by spotting triplets of 10 μ L drops on LB medium with tetracycline. The plates were incubated for 24h at 28°C and the microcolonies were counted using a dissecting microscope to observe the pathogen proliferation.

The 0h experimental time corresponds to the time were leaves were primed with Chl and for the purpose of bacterial count, the leaves were scored at 48h, 72h and 96h experimental time in order to track the growth of bacteria over 3 days in the presence of the different treatments.

Pathogen proliferation experiments were done with Chl strains PH 144, PH 145, PH 146, PH 147, 200648 and 045820, and with their respective wild type Chl strains (CC 125 and CC 5325). There were two repetitions of the experiments with the CRISPR/Cas9 mutants, while the experiments with the CLiP mutants were done only once. Each experiment had five biological replicates.

3.9 Antimicrobial activity

In order to determine the antimicrobial activity of tobacco leaves primed with several Chl strains three different methods were used:

i) Sodium salt and EDTA based extraction (Abdelmohsen et al. 2011) (Figure 3.2): The strains tested with this method were CC 125, PH 144, PH 145, PH 146 and PH 147. Leaves from five *N. tabacum* plants were pre-treated with two microalgal strains, with both suspension and extraction inoculates. Every day, for five days subsequently to the pre-

treatment, plants leaves were harvested, to create a 5-day overview of the antimicrobial activity. During the harvest, the leaf portions were put into Microtube tubes and dropped into liquid nitrogen. The frozen leaves were grounded, and 0.5 g were re-suspended in 1 mL buffer A (10 mM Na₂HPO₄, 15mM NaH₂PO₄, pH =7) and then stirred for 1 h at 4°C. Afterwards, they were centrifuged at 20°C, 3500 RPM for 20 min. Supernatants were used as intracellular fraction (extract 1). Pellets were re-suspended in 1 mL buffer B (10 mM Na₂HPO₄, 15mM NaH₂PO₄, pH = 7, 1 M NaCl, 15mM NaEDTA) and stirred overnight at 4°C. Samples were centrifuged again at 20°C, 3500 RPM. The supernatants were dialyzed overnight against demineralized water at 4°C. The following day the dialyzed fraction (extract 2) was collected in 2 mL Microtube tubes. Extract 1 and 2 were then pooled and then used in an agar diffusion test. One mL of PstT was distributed at 0.2 OD to LB medium plates. The plates dried for 10 minutes and excess culture-suspension was removed. Plates were sectioned into six areas, two sterile filter paper discs - 0.5 mm thick and 5 mm diameter big - were placed in every section of the plate (Figure 3.3). On every paper disc, 10 µL of the pooled extracts were added. Plates were incubated at 28°C for 24 hours. The effect of the antimicrobial activity of the extract was determined by the size of the diameter of the halo. As a positive control, kinetin (a cytokinin) treated N. tabacum samples (Großkinsky et al. 2011) was used, while buffer A was used as a negative control.



Figure 3.2: Scheme of the sodium salt and EDTA based extraction protocol for antimicrobial activity screening of plant extracts (Adapted from Abdelmohsen et al. 2011).



Figure 3.3: Experimental setup of antimicrobial activity determination for disc diffusion assays, P: Positive control, N: Negative control and 1-4 the samples in question.

- ii) Ethanol-based extraction (Biswas et al. 2013) (Figure 3.4): Tobacco leaves were infiltrated with Chl solutions, as previously described. The used strains were CC 5325, CC 5325 + PstT, PstT, and water. After infiltration, the leaves were left for 2 days and then put in the oven at 70 °C to dry for 24h. Then, the dry leaves were weighed (around 0.05g each), and then they were ground with a sterilised pistil in Microtube tubes. They were subsequently dissolved in 1 mL 80% ethanol and then left to stir at room temperature for 48h. The samples were then centrifuged at 10000 RPM for 10 minutes. Then they were filtered through a syringe filter by passing through Chromafix column (> 45μM) and then left to dry in a SpeedVac overnight. The next day, the extracts were filled to 500 μL with 80% ethanol to be used in the antimicrobial assay experiments.
 - A) Disc diffusion assay overnight PstT cultures with an OD 0.13 were spread evenly on the agar plates and left to dry. Then, sterile filter paper discs with a diameter of 6 mm were impregnated with testing solution (20 μL/disc), dried (3 times impregnation and drying) and placed on the agar plates inoculated with Pst. Chloramphenicol (1 mg/mL) was used as a positive control, and 80% ethanol was the negative control. There were 2 replicates of each plate. The plates were inverted and incubated for 24 h at 28°C. Inhibition zones around the discs were measured the next day.
 - B) Broth microdilution assay (Eloff 1998) 50 μ L PstT solution was put into the wells A1-A1, B1-B7, C1-C7 and D1-D7 in a 96-well microtitre plate. The wells A8-9, B8-9, C8-9 and D8-9 had no bacteria, but only 100 μ L ethanol and only LB respectively. Then, the first 4 columns were treated with the 50 μ L plant extracts respectively, followed by putting 50 μ L of 1 mg/mL chloramphenicol, 80 % ethanol and only Pst. Then, the plate was wrapped in parafilm and left to incubate overnight at 28 °C. The following day, the plate was taken out and then 50 μ L INT (2 mg/mL) was put into each of the wells. INT is a tetrazolium salt based dye which changes colour from colourless to pink in the presence of respiratory activity. The deepness of the colour directly corresponds to the number of bacteria present in the solutions. The plate was then kept in the dark for 30 minutes and then colour change was observed.
- iii) Methanol-based extraction (Parekh, Chanda 2007) (Figure 3.4): Entire tobacco leaves were infiltrated with algae solutions as previously described. The used strains were CC 125, CC 125 + PstT, PstT and water. Two days after infiltration, the leaves were harvested

and then grounded in liquid nitrogen and weighed. One gram of grounded leaves was taken from each treatment. One gram was put in a Microtube tube and dissolved in 2 mL 80% methanol and then left to stir at -4°C for 24h. The samples were then centrifuged at 14000 RPM for 15 minutes. Afterwards samples were filtered through a syringe filter by passing through Chromafix column (>45 μ M) and left to dry in a SpeedVac overnight. The next day, 500 μ L of 80% methanol were added to the extracts and used in the antimicrobial assay experiments.

- A) Disc diffusion assay Overnight PstT cultures of OD 0.13 were spread evenly on the agar plates and left to dry. Then, sterile filter paper discs with a diameter of 6 mm were impregnated with testing solution (20 μL/disc), dried (3 times impregnation and drying) and placed on the agar plates inoculated with Pst. Chloramphenicol (0.25 mg/mL) was used as a positive control, and 80% methanol was the negative control. There were 2 replicates of a plate. The plates were inverted and incubated for 24 h at 28°C. Inhibition zones around the discs were measured the next day.
- B) Broth microdilution assay (Eloff 1998) 50 μL PstT solution was put into the wells A1-A1, B1-B7, C1-C7 and D1-D7 in a 96 well microplate. The wells A8-9, B8-9, C8-9 and D8-9 had no bacteria, but only 100 μL 80% methanol and only LB. Then, the first 4 columns were treated with the 50 μL plant extracts respectively, followed by putting 50 μL of 0.25 mg/mL chloramphenicol, 80 % methanol, and only Pst. Then, the plate was covered with aluminium foil and left to incubate overnight shaking at 28 °C. The following day, the plate was taken out and then 50 μL INT (2 mg/mL) was put into each of the wells. INT is a tetrazolium salt-based dye which changes colour from colourless to pink in the presence of respiratory activity. The deepness of the colour directly corresponds to the number of bacteria present in the solutions. The plate was then kept in the dark for 30 minutes and then colour change was observed.



Figure 3.4: Scheme of ethanol and methanol-based extractions to detect the antimicrobial activity of plant extracts (Adapted from Eloff 1998; Parekh, Chanda 2007; Abdelmohsen et al. 2011; Biswas et al. 2013)

3.10 Optical Microscopy

Microscopy was carried out to compare and observe the differences PstT had between the wild type (CC 5325) treated leaves and mock treated leaves. Leaf tissue squares (10 x 10 mm) were cut with a razor from both the mock and CC 5325 treated samples up to four DPI and immediately stained with aniline blue in lactophenol (0.01g aniline blue, 5 mL lactic acid and 10 mL H₂O) (Whitelaw-Weckert et al. 2011). Then, the leaf portions were observed under a Leica DM 2000 microscope at 100x magnification.

3.11 Algal promoted in vitro tomato seed germination

The suspension, extract, culture and supernatant solutions of microalgae strains CC 125, PH 144, PH 147, CC 5325, 200648 and 045820 were used on tomato seeds (variety Moneymaker) for this algal promoted seed germination test. Chl suspensions were made from 2-week old cultures. The seeds were surface sterilized with 40 mL of 2.7% sodium hypochlorite for 15 minutes and rinsed thoroughly in demineralized water. Seeds were vernalized at 4°C for 48h. 500µL of the respective microalgae suspensions were pipetted onto the Petri dishes with 1% agar containing 0.5x MS. After the microalgae suspensions dried (10-15 minutes later), 15 seeds were placed on each Petri dish. There were two Petri dishes per microalgae treatment, each containing 15 seeds, so the total number of seeds for each treatment was 30. The plates were incubated at room temperature with 12h/12h day/night cycle. Seed germination was initially checked after 72h, and again every 24 hours (Ghaderiardakani et al. 2019). The seeds were counted to be germinated if at least 2 mm of the radical had emerged. Also, the germination percentage was calculated. Germination percentage is an estimate of the viability of a population of seeds and was calculated as

 $GP = (number of germinated seeds/total number of seeds) \times 100.$

3.12 Algal promoted growth assay of tomato and NT

The microalgae solutions chosen to be tested for this experiment were CC 125 culture, CC 125 suspension, CC 125 extract and control (only water) to be tested on tomato and tobacco (Figure 3.5). Eight 10-packs consisting of ten wells were filled with sowing soil, four 10-packs for tomato and four

10-packs for tobacco. A pre-germinated seed was put into each well (7 days after sowing). And then after the addition of 5 mL of milli-Q water, 10 mL of the solutions of the different microalgae treatments were poured onto each of the seedlings in the wells and all the plants were incubated in the greenhouse for 2 weeks. At the end of the experiment, all plant parts were harvested and washed with care over a sieve and then weighed, then differences between their weights were analysed (Kholssi et al. 2019).



Figure 3.5: Scheme of the algal promoted growth assay of tobacco and tomato (Adapted from Kholssi et al. 2019).

3.13 Drought tolerance experiment in Arabidopsis

The microalgae treatments used for this experiment were CC 125 culture, CC 125 suspension, CC 125 extract and control (only water). Thirty-six wells for each treatment were filled with soil to the brim (6 wells in one 2x3 six-pack). Then, they were watered, saturated and weighed to get around 250 g per six-pack. Then 2-3 *Arabidopsis* seeds were sown in each well. Afterwards, the trays filled with six-packs were covered with plastic bags and left to vernalise at 4°C for 5-7 days. The trays were then moved to the growth chamber or greenhouse and left to grow for 10 days. In the meanwhile, plants were watered every 2 days. As already mentioned, after 10 days, seedling selection was done so that each well had similar sized seedlings. The drought tolerance experiment was then started (Bresson 2013). A day later, 2 mL of the respective microalgae treatment solutions was poured on top of each of the seedlings. Plants were given 2 days to adjust to the new treatments. The drought condition was then started by stop watering plants until the day before harvesting. Control plants were watered every two days. Seven days after microalgae inoculation, each six-pack was weighed again, and the well-watered plants were harvested and individually weighed. The drought subjected plants were re-watered and then harvested and individually weighed the following day. Then the soil water content (SWC) was measured for all the plants:

 $SWC = \frac{(soil weight at harvest - fully dried soil weight)}{Fully dried soil weight} * 100$
4. Results

4.1 Priming with microalgae decreased symptoms caused by PstT in NT

NT leaves were screened for PstT induced symptoms in several individual experiments where the symptoms of the WT Chl strains were compared with various Chl KOs. These experiments were done in order to visualise the effect that microalgae had on the plants in terms of protecting them against PstT infection, and if this protection differed between the WT and the mutant strains.

4.1.1 WT CC-125 versus 2-LOG KOs

The 2-LOG KO Chl mutants were generated by knocking out a portion of the Lonely Guy gene (LOG). Several clones of this mutant (PH 144, PH 145, PH 146 and PH 147) were used to confirm if the LOG gene is indeed an integral part of the cytokinin biosynthesis pathway or not. In addition, using several mutants offers the advantage to have more reliable results.

The infiltration experiments were performed to determine whether the LOG gene (indirectly CK) had any effect on the development of PstT-induced symptoms compared to the WT CC 125 strain and water (mock). The assays were repeated twice for each mutant strain, each having 5 biological replicates.

In the first experiment the development of PstT-induced symptoms in NT leaves treated with PH 144 were compared against CC 125 and mock. In this assay we observed that symptoms in leaves treated with PH 144 (suspension and extract) were significantly more severe when compared to leaves treated with CC 125 (suspension and extract). Nevertheless, PH 144 mutant still gave some additional protection to the plant when compared with the mock treated patch of leaves (Figure 4.1A).

In the replica we observed similar results where the suspension of PH 144 showed significantly more severe symptoms on NT leaves than the CC 125, but there were no significant differences between the effects of the CC 125 and PH 144 extract solutions. Nevertheless, PH 144 mutant still gave some additional protection to the plant when compared with the mock treated patch of leaves (Figure 4.1B).





Figure 4.1 Symptoms observed in the NT leaves at 72h, 96h and 168h of experimental time by scoring the patch of the leaf which was primed with the respective Chl strains CC 125 and PH 144 first, and then infiltrated with PstT at 48h. A. Experiment 1; B. Experiment 2. The mock, CC 125 suspension and PH 144 suspension treated portions are significantly different from each other, with the CC 125 suspension showing less symptoms (Unpaired Student's t-test, p << 0.05, n=5).

The symptoms induced by PstT in infiltrated leaves with CC 125 versus PH 144 were easily distinguishable from 72h to 168h of experimental time. The patches with CC 125 suspension and CC 125 extract were greener than the ones with PH 144 suspension and extract, while the mock treated patches had undergone complete necrosis by 168h (Figure 4.2).



Figure 4.2: Examples of symptoms caused by PstT in NT leaves treated with WT CC 125 (above) and mutant PH 144 (below) at 72h, 96h and 168h experimental time.

The PstT symptom development in NT leaves was also compared between PH 145 mutant strain, WT CC 125 strain and mock in two sets of experiments. In the first experiment the development of PstT-induced symptoms in NT leaves treated with PH 145 were compared against CC 125 and mock. In

this assay we observed that symptoms in leaves treated with PH 145 (suspension and extract) were significantly more severe when compared to leaves treated with CC 125 (suspension and extract). Nevertheless, PH 145 mutant still gave some additional protection to the plant when compared with the mock treated patch of leaves (Figure 4.3A).

The second experiment with CC 125 versus PH 145 turned out to be comparatively less successful than the first one, since the protection offered by CC 125 suspension and PH 145 suspension were not significantly different from each other. However, there was a significant difference between the effects on the CC 125 extract and PH 145 extract treated portions, with the later exhibiting more severe symptoms. Nevertheless, the PH 145 mutant still provided additional protection to the plant when compared to the mock treated patch of leaves (Figure 4.3B).





Figure 4.3: The symptoms observed in the NT leaves at 72h,96h and 168h of experimental time by scoring the patch of the leaf which was primed with the respective Chl strains CC 125 and PH 145 first, and then infiltrated with PstT. A. experiment 1; B. experiment 2. The CC 125 suspension and PH 145 suspension treated portions were not significantly different from each other, (Unpaired Student's t-test, p > 0.05, n=5). However, the CC 125 extract and PH 145 extract portions were significantly different from each, with the CC 125 treated portions showing less symptoms (Unpaired Student's t-test, p << 0.05, n=5).

The symptoms induced by PstT in infiltrated leaves with CC 125 versus PH 145 were easily distinguishable from 72h to 168h of experimental time. The patches with CC 125 live and CC 125 extract were greener than the ones with PH 145 suspension and extract, while the mock treated patches had undergone complete necrosis by 168h (Figure 4.4).



Figure 4.4: Examples of symptoms caused by PstT observed in NT leaves treated with WT CC 125 (above) and mutant PH 145 (below) at 72h, 96h and 168h experimental time.

In both experiments performed with CC 125 versus PH 146, the symptom development of PH 146 was compared against CC 125 and mock. In this assay we observed that both the suspension and the extract from PH 146 and CC 125 treated portions were not significantly different from each other and that the PH 146 mutant offered similar additional protection as the WT to the plant when compared with the mock treated patch of leaves (Figure 4.5A,4.5B).





Figure 4.5: The symptoms observed in the NT leaves at 72h,96h and 168h of experimental time by scoring the patch of the leaf which was primed with the respective Chl strains CC 125 and PH 146 first, and then infiltrated with PstT. A. Experiment 1 and B. Experiment 2. The treated portions treated with CC 125 and PH 146 suspensions were not significantly different from each other (Unpaired Student's t-test, p > 0.05, n=5).

The symptoms induced by PstT in infiltrated leaves with CC 125 versus PH 146 were not that easily distinguishable from 72h to 168h of experimental time. The patches treated with CC 125 suspension and CC 125 extract were greener than the ones with PH 146 suspension and extract only at 168h

(while the patches looked equally green at 72 and 96h), while the mock treated patches had undergone complete necrosis by 168h (Figure 4.6).



Figure 4.6: Examples of symptoms caused by PstT observed in NT leaves treated with WT CC 125 (above) and mutant PH 146 (below) at 72h, 96h and 168h experimental time.

In the first experiment done with CC 125 versus PH 147, the symptom development of PH 147 was compared against CC 125 and mock. In this assay we observed that both the suspension and the extract from PH 147 and CC 125 treated portions were not significantly different from each other and that the PH 147 mutant offered similar additional protection as the WT to the plant when compared with the mock treated patch of leaves (Figure 4.7A).

In the second experiment the symptoms in leaves treated with PH 147 (suspension and extract) were significantly more severe when compared to leaves treated with CC 125 (suspension and extract). Nevertheless, PH 147 mutant still gave some additional protection to the plant when compared with the mock treated patch of leaves (Figure 4.7B).



Figure 4.7: The symptoms observed in the *N. tabacum* leaves at 72h,96h and 168h of experimental time by scoring the patch of the leaf which was primed with the respective Chl strains CC 125 and PH 147 first, and then infiltrated with PstT at 48h experimental time. A. Experiment 1; B. Experiment 2. The mock, CC 125 live and PH 147 live treated portions are significantly different from each other, with the CC 125 treated portions showing the least severe symptoms (Unpaired Student's t-test, p << 0.05, n=5).

The symptoms induced by PstT in infiltrated leaves with CC 125 versus PH 147 are easily distinguishable from 72h to 168h of experimental time. The patches with CC 125 live and CC 125 extract are greener than the ones with PH 147 live and extract, while the mock treated patches had undergone complete necrosis by 168h (Figure 4.8).



Figure 4.8: Examples of symptoms caused by PstT observed in NT leaves treated with WT CC 125 (above) and mutant PH 147 (below) at 72h, 96h and 168h experimental time.

4.1.2 WT CC-5325 versus cLOG KO

The Chl mutant 200648 is a knockout of a portion of the coding region of the Lonely Guy gene (LOG). There was only one infiltration experiment performed with WT CC 5325 versus 200648 mutant strain against PstT to track the symptom development. It was observed that the mutant 200648 showed significantly less symptoms than its corresponding WT CC 5325 (Figure 4.9).



Figure 4.9: The symptoms observed in the NT leaves at 72h,96h and 168h of experimental time by scoring the patch of the leaf which was primed with the respective Chl strain first, and then infiltrated with PstT. The treated portions with CC 5325 and 200648 suspensions were significantly different from each other, with later showing less symptoms (Unpaired Student's t-test, p < 0.05, n=5).

The symptoms induced by PstT in infiltrated leaves with CC 5325 versus 200648 were easily distinguishable from 72h to 168h of experimental time. The patches infiltrated with CC 5325 and 200648 evidenced similar protection against the pathogen, while the mock treated patches had undergone complete necrosis by 168h (Figure 4.10).



Figure 4.10: Examples of symptoms caused by PstT observed in NT leaves treated with WT CC 5325 (above) and mutant 200648 (below) at 72h, 96h and 168h experimental time.

4.1.3 WT CC-5325 versus HMBPP KO

The Chl mutant 045820 is a knockout of a portion of the coding region of the HMBPP reductase gene (HMBPP). There was only one infiltration experiment performed with CC 5325 versus 045820 against PstT to track the symptom development. It was observed that the mutant 045820 showed significantly more severe symptoms than its corresponding WT CC 5325 (Figure 4.11).



Figure 4.11: The symptoms observed in the NT leaves at 72h,96h and 168h of experimental time by scoring the patch of the leaf which was primed with the respective Chl strain first, and then infiltrated with PstT. The treated portions with CC 5325 and 045820 suspensions were significantly different from each other, with the first showing less symptoms (Unpaired Student's t-test, p < 0.05, n=5).

The symptoms induced by PstT in infiltrated leaves with CC 5325 versus 045820 were easily distinguishable from 72h to 168h of experimental time. The patches with CC 5325 suspension and CC 5325 extract were greener than the ones with 045820 suspension and extract, while the mock treated patches had undergone complete necrosis by 168h (Figure 4.12).



Figure 4.12: Examples of symptoms caused by PstT observed in NT leaves treated with WT CC 5325 (above) and mutant 045820 (below) at 72h, 96h and 168h experimental time.

In the trials where we tested the WT versus the mutants, the WT conferred a significantly higher protection than its corresponding 2-LOG KO mutants. A similar behaviour was observed between the CC 5325 WT and the HMBPP reductase KO mutant. On the other hand, a similar behaviour against PstT was observed between the WT and the cLOG KO mutant (Table 4.1).

Table 4.1: Summary of the effect of the various ChI treatments on symptom development of NT leaves infiltrated with PstT. Asterisks indicate probability levels (unpaired Student's t-test): $p^* < 0.05$, $p^{**} < 0.01$, $p^{***} < 0.001$.

	Total no. of	No. of trials with	No. of trials with	No. of trials with
	trials with this	<u>Stronger</u>	<u>Weaker</u>	No protection
	strain	protection	protection	(compared to
		(compared to	(compared to	control)
		control)	control)	
CC 125	6	6**	0	0
PH 144 (Crispr/Cas9	2	0	2***	0
KO mutant)				
PH 145 (Crispr/Cas9	2	0	2*	0
KO mutant)				
PH 146 (Crispr/Cas9	2	0	2	0
KO mutant)				
PH 147 (Crispr/Cas9	2	0	2*	0
KO mutant)				
CC 5325	2	1***	1**	0
045820 / HMBPP	1	0	1***	0
(CLiP KO mutant)				
200648 / cLOG (CLiP	1	1**	0	0
KO mutant)				

4.2 Priming with microalgae inhibited the proliferation of PstT in NT

Pst proliferation experiments were done in order to compare the proliferation of pathogen in leaf samples treated with microalgae (WT, mutants and mocks). The strains tested were the same as those used in the previous section.

4.2.1 WT CC-125 versus 2-LOG KOs

In the first set of experiments, the PstT concentration obtained in leaves treated with both PH 144 suspension and extract solutions were significantly higher when compared with the numbers obtained for CC 125 suspension and extract. The highest CFU/mL of PstT were always obtained from mock treatment (Fig- 4.13A). A similar trend was observed in the duplicate of this experiment (Fig. 4.13B).





Figure 4.13: PstT numbers in NT leaf disks treated with CC 125 suspension, CC 125 Extract, PH 144 suspension, PH 144 Extract and Mock at 48h, 72h and 96h experimental time. A. experiment 1; B. experiment 2. The bacterial count in all these different treatments are significantly different from each other (Unpaired Student's t-test, p << 0.05, n=15).

In the first set of experiments, the PstT concentration obtained in leaves treated with both PH 145 suspension and extract solutions were significantly higher when compared with the numbers obtained for CC 125 suspension and extract. The highest CFU/mL of PstT were always obtained from mock treatment (Figure 4.14A). A similar trend was observed in the duplicate of this experiment (4.14B).



Figure 4.14B: PstT numbers in NT leaf disks treated with CC 125 suspension, CC 125 Extract, PH 145 suspension, PH 145 Extract and Mock at 48h, 72h and 96h experimental time. A. experiment 1; B. experiment 2. The bacterial count in all these different treatments are significantly different from each other (Unpaired Student's t-test, p << 0.05, n=15).

In the first experiment to compare the pathogen proliferation of CC 125 against PH 146, it was observed that the PstT count in both the PH 146 live solutions were significantly higher than the CC 125 live ones, but there was no significant difference between the CC 125 extract and PH 146 extract counts, while the mock always had the highest CFU/mL of PstT (Figure 4.15A). In the second repetition of this experiment, the mock, CC 125 live, extract and PH 146 live, extract was significantly different from one another (Figure 4.15B).



Figure 4.15B: PstT numbers in NT leaf disks treated with CC 125 suspension, CC 125 Extract, PH 146 suspension, PH 146 Extract and Mock at 48h, 72h and 96h experimental time. A. experiment 1; B. experiment 2. The bacterial count in all these different treatments are significantly different from each other (Unpaired Student's t-test, p << 0.05, n=15).

In the first experiment to compare the pathogen proliferation of CC 125 against PH 147, it was observed that the PstT count in both the PH 147 live and extract solutions were significantly higher than the CC 125 live and extract ones, while the mock always had the highest CFU/mL of PstT (Figure 4.16A). In the second repetition of this experiment, there was no significant difference between the PstT count in CC 125 live and PH 147 live, but all the other treatments had significantly different bacterial counts (Figure 4.16B).



Figure 4.16B: PstT numbers in NT leaf disks treated with CC 125 suspension, CC 125 Extract, PH 145 suspension, PH 145 Extract and Mock at 48h, 72h and 96h experimental time. A. experiment 1; B. experiment 2. The bacterial count in all these different treatments are significantly different from each other (Unpaired Student's t-test, p << 0.05, n=15), except for CC 125 suspension versus the PH 147 suspension solution (Unpaired Student's t-test, p << 0.05, n=15).

4.2.2 WT CC-5325 versus cLOG KO

The PstT number obtained in leaves treated with 200648 suspension was significantly higher when compared with the numbers obtained for CC 125 suspension. On the other hand, no significant differences were obtained in Pst numbers between the extract's treatments. The highest CFU/mL of PstT was obtained from mock treatment (Figure 4.17).



Figure 4.17: PstT numbers in NT leaf disks treated with CC 5325 suspension, CC 5325 Extract, 200648 suspension, 200648 Extract and Mock at 48h, 72h and 96h experimental time. The bacterial count in all these different treatments are significantly different from each other (Unpaired Student's t-test, p << 0.05, n=15)

4.2.3 WT CC-5325 versus HMBPP KO

The Chl mutant 045820 is a knockout of the HMBPP reductase gene (HMBPP). There was only one infiltration experiment performed with CC 5325 versus 045820 against PstT to track the pathogen proliferation of PstT in each of these treatments. In the experiment to compare the pathogen proliferation of CC 5325 against 045820, it was observed that the PstT count in both the 045820 suspension and extract solutions were significantly higher than the CC 125 suspension and extract ones, while the mock had the highest CFU/mL of PstT (Figure 4.18).



Figure 4.18: PstT numbers in NT leaf disks treated with CC 5325 suspension, CC 5325 Extract, 045820 suspension, 045820 Extract and Mock at 48h, 72h and 96h experimental time. The bacterial count in all these different treatments are significantly different from each other (Unpaired Student's t-test, p << 0.05, n=15)

In all the trials with all the wild types versus the knockouts, the wild types CC 125 almost always had a significantly lower PstT count than its corresponding 2-LOG KO mutants, and the wild type CC 5325 had a significantly lower PstT count than its corresponding KO mutants (Table 4.2).

Table 4.2: Summary of the effect of the various Chl treatments on bacterial count of PstT in *N. tabacum* leaves infiltrated with the said pathogen. Asterisks indicate probability levels (unpaired Student's t-test): p < 0.05, *p < 0.01, *p < 0.001. No asterisks indicate no significant effects.

	Total no. of	No. of trials with	No. of trials with	No. of trials with
	trials with this	<u>Stronger</u>	<u>Weaker</u>	No protection
	strain	protection	protection	(compared to
		(compared to	(compared to	control)
		control)	control)	
CC 125	6	6**	0	0
PH 144	2	0	2***	0
(CRISPR/Cas9 KO				
mutant)				
PH 145	2	0	2***	0
(CRISPR/Cas9 KO				
mutant)				
PH 146	2	0	2**	0
(CRISPR/Cas9 KO				
mutant)				
PH 147	2	0	2**	0
(CRISPR/Cas9 KO				
mutant)				
CC 5325	2	2**	0	0
045820 / HMBPP	1	0	1***	0
(CLiP KO mutant)				
200648 / cLOG (CLiP	1	0	1*	0
KO mutant)				

4.3 Microalgae extract showed no *in vitro* antimicrobial activity against PstT

The screening for antimicrobial activity was performed in order to determine if the microalgae treated leaf portions could inhibit the growth of PstT *in vitro* as they did in the plant. To test the antimicrobial activity of the various leaf extracts treated with microalgae against PstT, various extraction procedures were carried out followed by broth dilution and disk diffusion assays. However, there were no growth inhibition of PstT by these extracts, neither of the kinetin treated positive controls (Appendix 1).

4.4 Microalgae inhibited pathogen multiplication in NT

The leaf tissues primed with the WT strain CC 5325 and then infected with PstT were compared to the leaf tissues primed with water (mock) and then infected with PstT. The comparison was performed under the microscope in order to see if the bacteria survived in the plant when treated with microalgae, even if they did not show any symptoms when observed with the naked eye.

Microscopy was done by staining the NT leaf sections primed with CC 5325 strain and mock with aniline blue up to 4 days post infection (DPI). This allowed tracking PstT in the leaf since it appeared as blue dots under the Leica DM 2000 microscope at 100x magnification.

At one DPI several PstT cells were observed in leaves primed with CC 5325 strain and mock (Figure 4.19A). At two DPI, lesser PstT cells were observed in leaves primed with CC 5325, while there seemed to be almost the same number of PstT in the mock samples (Figure 4.19B). Ultimately, by four DPI, there were almost no PstT cells in the CC 5325 samples, and the ones observed were elongated and tubular; while in the mock there were more PstT cells observed which were clumped together (Figure 4.19C).





Figure 4.19: -NT leaves primed with CC 5325 and then infiltrated with PstT (left) vs primed with water (mock) and then infiltrated with PstT (right) seen under a Leica DM 2000 Microscope at A.one DPI B. two DPI C. three DPI, 100x magnification. Staining of the bacteria has been done with aniline blue. The PstT appear as blue dots or elongated structures (as inside black circles) when stained with aniline blue.

4.5 Microalgae induced drought tolerance in Arabidopsis

The ability of the WT CC 125 strain to confer resistance to drought was tested in *Arabidopsis* plants as described in section 3.13.

After 7 days of drought (the plants were not watered), the weight of the well-watered plants supplemented with CC 125 suspension, CC 125 extract and CC 125 culture was significantly higher when compared to the control (Figure 37). The weights of the drought treated plants were highly variable among them and the differences were not significant (Figure 4.20).



Figure 4.20: Drought tolerance experiment results on *Arabidopsis* plants primed with different solutions of CC 125 microalgae. Well-watered plants supplemented with CC125 had a significantly higher growth than the control ones (Unpaired student's t-test, p << 0.05, n=36). In the drought treated ones, only the CC 125 culture seems to have a higher growth than the control, but it is not significant, with a very high amount of standard deviation in the weight between plants (Unpaired student's t-test, p > 0.05, n=36).

Among the plants subjected to the drought treatment, 5 out of the 36 plants treated with CC 125 culture survived after 7 days, while only one of the control plants survived, and none of the CC 125 live or CC 125 extract treated plants survived the drought assay (Figure 4.21A, B).





Figure 4.21: A. Number of plants which survived a drought of 7 days out of the given treatments. B: Five out of 36 plants treated with CC 125 microalgae culture (lower right) survived the 7-day drought, while one out of 36 plants survived in the control ones (upper left). However, none of the CC 125 live or CC 125 extract treated plants survived the drought (upper right and lower left respectively).

The average SWC of the soils between the different treatments was also measured. Only the wellwatered soils treated with CC 125 suspension had a significantly higher SWC than the well-watered control, while the CC 125 extract and CC 125 culture treated, and drought treated soils had a significantly higher SWC than the drought treated control (Figure 4.22).



Figure 4.22: Average soil water content (SWC) of plants subject to various microalgae treatments under well-watered (WW) and drought treated (D) conditions. The CC 125 live treated well-watered soils had a significantly higher SWC than the well-watered control, while the CC 125 extract and CC 125 culture treated and drought treated soils had a significantly higher SWC than the drought treated control (Unpaired Student's t-test, p < 0.05, n=6).

4.6 Microalgae promoted tomato seed germination

The ability of microalgae strains CC 125, PH 144, PH 147, CC 5325, 200648 and 045820 to promote tomato seed (variety Moneymaker) germination was tested.

Four days after inoculating the seeds with the respective treatment, the germination percentage of PH 144 supernatant and PH 147 supernatant was the highest. All the other treatments presented a higher germination percentage than the control, except for the CC 125 suspension, CC 125 supernatant, CC 5325 suspension, 200648 live, 200648 extract with an apparently inhibitory effect and 045820 live with a negative impact in treated seeds (Figure 4.23).



Figure 4.23: Percentage of germinated tomato seeds (var. moneymaker) from each treatment solution four days after inoculation with microalgae (n=30).

Five days after inoculating the seeds with microalgae the results were similar as the previous day for PH 144 supernatant and PH 147 supernatant treated seeds having the highest germination percentages; while CC 125 live, 200648 live, 200648 extract, 045820 live and 045820 supernatant had lower or equal germination percentages as the control (Figure 4.24). Another interesting observation was that not only did the microalgae treated seeds germinate faster than the control, but they also grew longer radicals (Figure 4.25). The negative impact of live 045820 treatment was most notorious (Appendix 2).



Figure 4.24: Percentage of germinated tomato seeds (var. moneymaker) from each respective treatment solution five days after inoculation with different microalgae strains (n=30).



Figure 4.25: Germinated tomato seeds in Petri dishes five days after inoculation with water (1,2), CC 125 supernatant (3,4), PH 144 supernatant (5,6) and PH 147 supernatant (7,8).

4.7 Microalgae promoted the growth of NT and tomato

Growth assays were performed on NT and tomato (variety Gartenfreude) with CC 125 live, CC 125 extract and CC 125 culture solutions, with 10 biological replicates for each treatment. The CC 125 live treated plants were observed to have the significantly high weight amongst these treatments, while the CC 125 extract treated plants had significantly lower weights than the control (Figure 4.26).



Figure 4.26: Comparison between the average weights of NT plants inoculated with different treatments of CC 125 solutions at their seedling stage. CC 125 live solution treated plants had a significantly higher weight than the control plants, while the CC 125 extract treated plants were significantly lower than the control ones (Unpaired Student's t-test, p < 0.05, n=10)

The CC 125 treated plants were not only heavier than the control ones, but they also had bigger shoots with more leaves and longer roots which were more branched (Figure 4.27). In the case of tomato, there were no significant results obtained with respect to the different microalgae treatments administered to tomato plants when compared to the control (Appendix 3).



Figure 4.27: Comparison between a tobacco seedling previously treated with water (left) and CC 125 live solution (right). Not only has the plant shoot treated with CC 125 live solution grown taller, but the roots are also longer and more branched

5. Discussion

The objectives of this study included the functional characterization of the interaction between organisms in which the production of CKs by microalgae putatively strengthens the plant defence system of *Nicotiana tabacum* (NT). It was also intended to determine if these microalgae could perform functions as a bio-stimulant in other crops. This study showed that the production of CKs by the *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii* (Chl) microalgae strengthens the plant's defence responses, as the wild type Chls gave greater protection to NT plants against *Pseudomonas syringae* pv. *tomate* (PstT) compared to the mutants in which the HMBPP reductase gene and the LOG gene were eliminated. Regarding the bio-stimulation or bio-fertilisation capacity of algae, wild type Chl strains were found to be successful in stimulating the growth of tomato, tobacco and *Arabidopsis* plants in their sowing and seedling phases. These preliminary results predict the potential protective function of these algae against abiotic stresses, such as drought in Arabidopsis production. In addition, both the Chl mutants and the wild types of this microalgae have been shown to have a positive impact on the germination of tomato seeds.

5.1 Algae solutions

Many studies have been performed on the effect of different algal compounds infiltrated in leaves of live plants or mixed in the soil (Renuka et al. 2018), but no studies have been performed on the effect of infiltrating the leaf of a plant with live algae and/or algal extracts that contained disrupted algal cells. Most of the research on this area focuses on the compounds themselves, and the specific algal compounds are infiltrated after purification (Mercier et al. 2001). Hence, the approach used in this work was new trying to shed some light on the effects that live algae would have on plants and on their defence responses.

The infiltration methodology was originally designed for bacteria, so carrying it out was complicated and time-consuming since algae are considerably bigger in size than bacteria. Due to the algae size, infiltration of the algae could affect the plant negatively and cause mechanical damage. It is hypothesized that at the early stages of infection *Pseudomonas syringae* forces the plant cells to leak nutrients, which help the pathogen to grow and ultimately kill the plant cells (Katagiri, Thilmony, He 2002). Infiltration with algae could in this case create better conditions for the pathogen, since these conditions mimic the early infection steps by PstT. Also, the biomass of the algae inserted into the

leaves was very large (75g/L), which could overload the infiltrated area as algae produce a large number of compounds (Michalak, Chojnacka 2015).

Algae extracts were also used to infiltrate the leaves, and they included everything that was present in the algae at the time in a slur of different phytohormones and lipids, etc. The algal extracts were produced by microwaving them, but other methods of cell disruption have also proved to be successful (Lee et al. 2010; McMillan et al. 2013). Despite all limitations that could arise with infiltrating the leaves of the plants with algae extracts, the algae solutions were successful in providing additional resistance to the NT plants against PstT. The solutions with live microalgae provided better protection to the plants than the extracts. Both live microalgae and extract solutions protect the plant against PstT attacks. Despite this, the protection provided by live microalgae has been superior, which may be related to the degradation of important compounds in the extract, or to the synthesis of compounds by live algae during the experiment.

5.2 Pathogen resistance promotion in NT

Infiltration experiments to test the PstT induced symptom development and pathogen proliferation in NT leaves treated with microalgae produced robust and reproducible results where all the microalgae strains strengthen the plants' defence responses against PstT.

The leaves of NT are large and sturdy, which made it easy to track the symptoms over a course of a few days after the infiltration with PstT. However, the only problem with the symptom development experiment was that since it was based on a scoring system, it could produce different results if different people performed it, hence experimenter's bias could occur with the symptom development experiments. Also, the symptom development was shown to vary vastly in potency from experiment to experiment. This may be due to the environmental changes which occurred from the beginning of the project (such as changes in temperature, humidity etc) compared to the end. In addition, in future experiments it could be an improvement to optimize for an ideal OD to infiltrate the plants, to achieve a higher and more sensitive definition of the symptom development from day to day.

However, the robust results of the symptom development experiments are complemented and supported by the pathogen proliferation experiments, where the mock leaf disks repeatedly had much higher counts of PstT than the microalgae treated leaf disks. Interestingly, in the pathogen proliferation experiment the mock treatment showed noticeably higher CFU from even 48h experimental time, which suggest that the antimicrobial properties of the microalgae cause immediate

effects. This may also be due to how the method was performed, as the samples are leaf discs inside which pathogens have infiltrated. These leaf discs are grinded and then the pathogen is plated and incubated for 24 hours. This results in the pathogen being exposed to the antimicrobial contents of the leaf for 24 hours, which may have skewed the results a bit.

Although many factors could contribute to this resistance promotion by algae, only the CK-induced impact was investigated through this experiment. The Chl-mutants with impaired CK signalling and production were not as effective as a pathogen resistance promotor as the WT. The differences between the CC 5325 and HMBPP-KO strongly hinted that the CK production in the algae was important for induced resistance. Furthermore, the 2-LOG mutants and cLOG mutants with impaired CK activation also proved to have reduced effects on the plant-pathogen interaction. This shows that for the algae to successfully promote pathogen resistance active forms of CK are needed. And while other phytohormones in the algae might also contribute to the resistance, without CK the resistance will not be induced as properly.

This goes hand in hand with previous work by Großkinsky and colleagues in which they described a method by which they could induce pathogen resistance in plants using CK producing microorganisms, and it was further proved that the CK production in this bacteria was the cause of the resistance towards the pathogen DC3000, after the creation of loss of function and regain of function mutants (Großkinsky et al. 2016).

Our results further broaden the scope in which CKs could be used in pathogen resistance. To understand these results further, a hormone analysis of the different mutants in comparison with the WT might shed light on these interactions.

5.3 Chl-mutant strains testing

Chlamydomonas reinhardtii was chosen for this study because despite being a high CK production microalgae it had never been previously tested for pathogen resistance promotion. As expected, Chl WT showed a very strong pathogen resistance promotion against PstT in NT.

The mutants LMJ.RY0402.200648 (CLiP mutant 200648/cLOG) and 2-LOG KOs (CRISPR/Cas9 mutants) have mutations in CK riboside 5'-monophosphate phosphoribohydrolase, the enzyme commonly known as LONELY GUY (LOG). LOG converts inactive CK nucleotides to the biologically active forms. It reacts specifically with CK nucleoside 5'-monophosphates, but not with

di-or triphosphate. This missing activation step could be the cause of the limited resistance promotion by these strains.

The difference observed in the protection against PstT between these two mutants was interesting since cLOG showed a resistance as good as the WT, while the 2-LOG KOs showed a significantly weaker protection than the WT. For the 2-LOG KOs, this hints that the mutation did indeed impair the algae to some extent from producing active CKs. However, since the cLOG mutant did as almost as well as the wild type, this produces a contradiction as far as the LOG gene is concerned, but it should not be the ultimate determinant because there was only one repetition with the cLOG mutants where the symptom development was as good as its wild type but the pathogen proliferation was significantly more than its wild type.

The experiments with the 2-LOG mutants produced reproducible and robust results (each mutant was independently tested two times for the symptom development and pathogen proliferation experiments). Hence, it can be concluded that a mutation in the LOG gene did in fact cause a slight disruption in the production of CKs and ultimately confer weaker resistance to the plant against pathogens.

LMJ.RY0402.45820 (HMBPP-KO) had a disruption in the HMBPP reductase enzyme synthesis. HMBPP reductase catalyses a step in the synthesis of DMAPP, the previously described precursor for most of the isoprenoid CKs. However, the MVA-pathway leading to the production of cZ was still active. Großkinsky and colleagues (Großkinsky et al. 2013) showed that cZ promoted much weaker defence responses in tobacco than tZ. And while there is interconversion between the *cis* and *trans* forms of Zeatin, the amounts are miniscule (Gajdošová et al. 2011). The disruption of this gene and the following experiment to evaluate the protection this strain would promote in NT showed that the HMBPP-KO strain was almost ineffective in inducing pathogen resistance. The differences between the HMBPP-KO and WT strain showed that with an impaired CK production the pathogen resistance promotion ability of Chl was impaired. This suggests that it was the CKs produced from the MEP-pathway in Chl that triggered the defence responses in the plant. To further confirm these results additional studies with Chl KOs of the CK biosynthesis pathway genes are required to gain a deeper understanding of the role of each gene in conferring the biocontrol characteristic to Chl.

5.4 Antimicrobial activity screening of leaves infiltrated with microalgae

Several previously published articles have shed light on the anti-bacterial and/or anti-fungal properties of microalgae. Most of these studies have been carried out using extracts obtained using chemicals or by directly mail-ordering compounds the different algae products (Hellio et al. 2000; Biondi et al. 2004). Subsequent studies have also been carried out using purified compounds from algae such as oligosaccharides and polysaccharides to infiltrate plant leaves and test their antimicrobial activity against pathogens (Klarzynski et al. 2003; Vera et al. 2011). However, no studies have been carried out to test the antimicrobial effect of live algae infiltrated into leaves against pathogens. Although it was expected that the leaf extracts with microalgae would form inhibition zones in the disk diffusion assays, that was not the case. It was also observed that even the positive controls (leaves fed with kinetin) did not form any inhibition zones in the disk diffusion assays. This can lead to the conclusion that there was something wrong in the extraction protocols itself, and perhaps the antimicrobial compounds lost their bioactivity after being plated on the disks, or the quantity of bioactive compounds was not high enough or concentrated enough.

The broth microdilution assays also proved unsuccessful to show any antimicrobial activity of the extracts. This assay uses a dye called INT to detect and quantify the respiratory activity in a solution. A colour change from colourless to pink implies that there is respiratory activity, and the darker the colour, the more respiratory activity there is and hence more organisms are present (Eloff 1998). The pathogen PstT failed to survive overnight in the 96-well plates, and this could be due to the reason that PstT is a gram negative bacteria, while this assay mostly works for gram positive bacteria (Klančnik et al. 2010).

As stated above, plants were first injected with microalgae and subsequently infected with PstT. In this sense, it is possible that CK does not interact directly with the pathogen in the plant but induces the immune responses of the plant. Many studies have established this property of beneficial microbes to upregulate defence responses of plants by either increased phytoalexin synthesis (Großkinsky et al. 2011), accumulating latent mitogen-activated protein kinases, chromatin modifications and changes in primary metabolism (Conrath 2011), jasmonate, ethylene or salicylic acid dependent signalling pathways (Wees, der Ent, Pieterse 2008), phosphoinositide- and ABA-dependent signalling components, NPR1-dependent signalling pathways (der Ent et al. 2009) etc. This shows that priming is dependent on many intricate and interconnected pathways, and it is also dependent on
both the pathogen and the agent which induces the priming responses (der Ent et al. 2009). Hence, perhaps a simple antimicrobial activity screening with the leaf extracts is not enough to give further proof of concept of the pathogen resistance promotion properties of Chl, but more complicated studies such as phytohormone profiling or RNASeq of the WT versus mutants is needed.

5.5 Algae as a bio-stimulant

The Chl strains have proved to promote growth in three individual experiments in tomato, tobacco and *Arabidopsis*; at seedling stages for tobacco and *Arabidopsis*, and for seed germination for tomato seeds. As Chl is already established to be a microalga with a high production of CKs, it can be assumed that this growth promoting ability is mainly due to the CKs.

Many reports have previously shown that algae or algae extracts can contribute to a faster germination of tomato (Garcia-gonzalez, Sommerfeld 2016). However, it had not been previously shown to be the case for Chl. Experiments with microalgae-induced seed germination clearly showed faster seed germination due to Chl mutants and wild types. As previously mentioned, the algae produce a wide range of phytohormones, many of them are growth hormones, which could trigger a faster germination. In addition, the algae itself could serve as a bio-fertilizer, providing nutrients to the seeds and thereby promote a faster growth.

What was interesting to observe in the seed germination experiments is that the supernatant from the CRISPR/Cas9 mutants PH 144 and PH 147 promoted the faster and higher percentage of seed germination. This could lead us to consider that there are compounds secreted by the algae which stay in the supernatant that can positively promote growth of seeds. Also, the tomato seeds treated with the CRISPR/Cas9 mutant had the highest germination percentages in comparison to the other treatments. It is already quite clear from the biocontrol experiments in NT that the production of CKs in these mutants is lower than in the WT. This could mean that a high production of CK in algae can be growth inhibitory for seed germination. This is in accordance with the experiment by Garciagonzalez & Sommerfeld (2016) where a high concentration of algae extracts were inhibitory for the growth of tomato, and also that possibly a high production of CKs negatively affects the growth of tomato, such as high amount of CKs inhibit growth of barley (Kirschner et al. 2018). Since the seeds treated with cLOG and HMBPP KO mutants also had germination percentages lower or equal to the germination percentage of the seeds treated with the WT, it probably means that there is an optimum concentration of cytokinins or algae that boosts seed germination.

Chl not only promoted seed germination, but the WT strain was also shown to promote the growth of tobacco and *Arabidopsis* in the seedling stage in two independent experiments. This is conclusive proof that Chl indeed is a promoter of the growth of plants and is hence a very effective bio-stimulant, which was not surprising due to the high production of CKs and the long history of the use of microalgae as bio-fertilisers in agriculture (Babu et al. 2015; Garcia-gonzalez, Sommerfeld 2016; Win et al. 2018; Kholssi et al. 2019).

The live microalgae solutions in both experiments with tobacco and tomato were exhibited to improve the growth of the plants, which could imply that microalgae when administered live have the best effect on the plants, since the biocontrol capability of the live solutions proved to be better than the extract.

It should be mentioned that although there was no significant growth in tomato seeds, this was probably due to a problem with the seeds since they were variable in size on the day of inoculation, so the results obtained were unreliable. Another fascinating observation was the influence of live algae on the SWC of the soils in which the *Arabidopsis* grew. The CC 125 live treated soils in well-watered plants had a significantly higher SWC than the other soils, which shows that it had the highest water retention capability, probably due to the fast growth of the plants in it. While further and more specific studies need to be carried out in order to confirm this hypothesis, these are promising evidences.

5.6 Role of Chl in response to abiotic stress in plants

In the drought tolerance experiment, the weights of the drought treated plants were too variable and not significant to come to any conclusive results. However, the survival of five out of 36 plants of the CC 125 culture treated plants (compared to only one surviving in the control and zero surviving of the other two treatments) in the *Arabidopsis* drought tolerance experiment is preliminary proof in conjecture with other independent experiments on tomato and tobacco which prove that CC 125 indeed has a positive effect on growth, and hence may also provide some sort of abiotic stress tolerance to plants. A limitation of this experiment was that the drought condition was too prolonged due to which almost all the plants died, hence this experiment needs to be repeated with a shorter drought period in order to reach to a proper conclusion.

It is not too far-fetched to assume that Chl would provide tolerance to abiotic stress conditions in plants, as Chl is a high CK-producing organism and there have been many studies which have proved

that cytokinins are essential in promoting tolerance towards abiotic stress conditions for plants (Tran et al. 2007; Rivero et al. 2009; O'Brien, Benkova 2013; Zwack, Rashotte 2015). Moreover, there have been studies which have showed that CKs improve the drought tolerance resistance of rice (Peleg et al. 2011; Reguera et al. 2013). There have been no studies till date which have established the role of microalgae as a promoter of abiotic stress tolerance in plants, although there have been studies to support the role of microalgae as a model for abiotic stress tolerance itself (Holzinger, Pichrtová 2016). Hence, keeping all these previous studies and the high CK-producing capability of Chl in mind, it can very well be possible that Chl is a good promoter of abiotic stress tolerance in plants, and this experiment needs to be repeated with the mutants in order to get more insight and conclusive evidence regarding this idea. Also, more experiments with other abiotic stresses such as flooding, metal toxicity, extreme temperature changes, salinity etc. can be carried out to see if Chl can provide the plant with tolerating capabilities.

5.7 Further perspectives with Chl

Various microalgae species have already been established to provide multiple benefits to the soil and plants, such as improvement in seed germination, enhanced growth of plants, improved nutritional characteristics, enhanced soil microbial activity, improvement in soil organic carbon etc. (Renuka et al. 2018). In the experiments performed in this thesis, the growth stimulation properties, abiotic stress responses and biocontrol capability of Chl has been established via many independent experiments with tobacco, tomato and *Arabidopsis* (Figure 5.1). This proves that Chl has excellent potential to be an environmentally sustainable multi-purpose biocontrol agent. Such sustainable options are a dire need right now in agriculture, as conventional pesticides are detrimental to the environment since they negatively affect the populations of important pollinators such as bees (Gill, Ramos-Rodriguez, Raine 2012). However, despite the increase use of pesticide, crop losses have remained the same in the past 40 years (Oerke 2006). Also, food production needs to double by 2050 in order to sustain the increasing population, but the current agricultural practices are not able to achieve that (Ray et al. 2013). Keeping all these factors in mind, focus has shifted to "green" bio-fertilisers and biocontrol agents. Chl is a very good contender for that, and Chl-based environmentally sustainable biocontrol agents and bio-fertilisers could be a promising option for the future of agriculture.



Figure 5.1: The combined growth stimulation, abiotic stress tolerance promoter and biocontrol capability of *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii* make it an excellent candidate for environmentally sustainable multi-purpose biocontrol agents for the future in agriculture.

6. Conclusion

In conclusion, *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii* does indeed provide resistance to *Pseudomonas syringae* pv. *tabaci* in tobacco, and this resistance is cytokinin-dependent.

This has been possible to understand due to the use of knockout mutants of the LOG and HMBPP reductase enzyme gene, which are two genes in the cytokinin biosynthesis pathway. The HMBPP reductase gene seemed to be more important in providing resistance to the plants than the LOG gene.

Also, *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii* has proven to stimulate growth in tomato, tobacco and *Arabidopsis* in their seedling and seed stages of development.

Last, but not the least, this microalga shows promise to promote drought tolerance in Arabidopsis.

A combination of all these characteristics make this microalga a promising contender to make biocontrol agents which have a multi-purpose feature. In the past decades, various microalgae have been shown to have many benefits to the soil, water and the environment (Renuka et al. 2018; Rizwan et al. 2018; Win et al. 2018). However, there were no studies with *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii* to explore these aspects of plant resistance promotion in combination with its bio-fertilising capabilities, despite it being a model organism for many studies and having a high production of CKs.

This study has showed tremendous potential for *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii* as a biocontrol agent and a bio-stimulant for plant species, as it contains characteristics due to which environmentally sustainable multi-functional biocontrol agents can be developed from it.

7. Appendix



Appendix 1 – A1: Examples of antimicrobial activity results with disk diffusion assays (Top and middle row), and broth microdilution assays (bottom row), with no antimicrobial activity being exhibited against PstT.



Appendix 2 – A2: Pictures of all the Petri dishes of all the treatments of the algal promoted seed germination experiments.



Appendix 3 - A3: Comparison of the average weights of tomato plants inoculated with different treatments of CC 125 solutions at their seedling stage. The weights of the plants in each treatments are not significantly different from each other (Unpaired Student's t-test, p >0.05, n=10).

8. References

ABDELMOHSEN, Usama Ramadan, ALI, Walid, EOM, Seung Hee, HENTSCHEL, Ute and ROITSCH, Thomas, 2011. Synthesis of distinctly different sets of antimicrobial activities by elicited plant cell suspension cultures. *Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture (PCTOC)* [online]. July 2011. Vol. 106, no. 1, p. 105–113. DOI 10.1007/s11240-010-9898-y. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/s11240-010-9898-y

ARGUESO, Cristiana T, FERREIRA, Fernando J, EPPLE, Petra, TO, Jennifer P C, HUTCHISON, Claire E, SCHALLER, G Eric, DANGL, Jeffery L and KIEBER, Joseph J, 2012. Two-Component Elements Mediate Interactions between Cytokinin and Salicylic Acid in Plant Immunity. *PLOS Genetics* [online]. 2012. Vol. 8, no. 1, p. 1–13. DOI 10.1371/journal.pgen.1002448. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1002448

ARGUESO, CRISTIANA T, FERREIRA, FERNANDO J and KIEBER, JOSEPH J, 2009. Environmental perception avenues: the interaction of cytokinin and environmental response pathways. *Plant, Cell & Environment* [online]. 2009. Vol. 32, no. 9, p. 1147–1160. DOI 10.1111/j.1365-3040.2009.01940.x. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/j.1365-3040.2009.01940.x

BABOSHA, Alexander V, 2009. Regulation of resistance and susceptibility in wheat-powdery mildew pathosystem with exogenous cytokinins. *Journal of Plant Physiology* [online]. 2009. Vol. 166, no. 17, p. 1892–1903. DOI https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jplph.2009.05.014. Available from: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0176161709002454

BABU, Santosh, BIDYARANI, Ngangom, CHOPRA, Preeti, MONGA, Dilip, KUMAR, Rishi, PRASANNA, Radha, KRANTHI, Sandhya and SAXENA, Anil Kumar, 2015. Evaluating microbe-plant interactions and varietal differences for enhancing biocontrol efficacy in root rot disease challenged cotton crop. *European Journal of Plant Pathology* [online]. June 2015. Vol. 142, no. 2, p. 345–362. DOI 10.1007/s10658-015-0619-6. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10658-015-0619-6

BASHAN, Yoav, DE-BASHAN, Luz E, PRABHU, S R and HERNANDEZ, Juan-Pablo, 2014. Advances in plant growth-promoting bacterial inoculant technology: formulations and practical perspectives (1998--2013). *Plant and Soil* [online]. May 2014. Vol. 378, no. 1, p. 1–33. DOI 10.1007/s11104-013-1956-x. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-013-1956-x

BIONDI, Natascia, PICCARDI, Raffaella, MARGHERI, M Cristina, RODOLFI, Liliana, SMITH, Geoffrey D and TREDICI, Mario R, 2004. Evaluation of Nostoc Strain ATCC 53789 as a Potential Source of Natural Pesticides. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* [online]. 2004. Vol. 70, no. 6, p. 3313–3320. DOI 10.1128/AEM.70.6.3313-3320.2004. Available from: https://aem.asm.org/content/70/6/3313

BISWAS, Bipul, ROGERS, Kimberly, MCLAUGHLIN, Fredrick, DANIELS, Dwayne and YADAV, Anand, 2013. Antimicrobial Activities of Leaf Extracts of Guava (Psidium guajava L.) on Two Gram-Negative and Gram-Positive Bacteria. *International Journal of Microbiology* [online]. 2013. Vol. 2013, p. 7. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1155/2013/746165

BRESSON, Justine, VAROQUAUX, Fabrice, BONTPART, Thibaut, TOURAINE, Bruno and VILE, Denis, 2013. The PGPR strain Phyllobacterium brassicacearum STM196 induces a reproductive delay and physiological changes that result in improved drought tolerance in Arabidopsis. *New Phytologist* [online]. 2013. Vol. 200, no. 2, p. 558–569. DOI 10.1111/nph.12383. Available from: https://nph.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/nph.12383

BURKETOVA, Lenka, TRDA, Lucie, OTT, Peter G and VALENTOVA, Olga, 2015. Bio-based resistance

inducers for sustainable plant protection against pathogens. *Biotechnology Advances* [online]. 2015. Vol. 33, no. 6, Part 2, p. 994–1004. DOI https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biotechadv.2015.01.004. Available from: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0734975015000051

CHANG, Wei-chen, SONG, Heng, LIU, Hung-wen and LIU, Pinghua, 2013. Current development in isoprenoid precursor biosynthesis and regulation. *Current Opinion in Chemical Biology* [online]. 2013. Vol. 17, no. 4, p. 571–579. DOI https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpa.2013.06.020. Available from: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1367593113001208

CHILD, J J, 1975. Nitrogen fixation by a Rhizobium sp. in association with non-leguminous plant cell cultures. *Nature* [online]. 1975. Vol. 253, no. 5490, p. 350–351. DOI 10.1038/253350a0. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1038/253350a0

CHOI, Jaemyung, HUH, Sung Un, KOJIMA, Mikiko, SAKAKIBARA, Hitoshi, PAEK, Kyung-Hee and HWANG, Ildoo, 2010. The Cytokinin-Activated Transcription Factor ARR2 Promotes Plant Immunity via TGA3/NPR1-Dependent Salicylic Acid Signaling in Arabidopsis. *Developmental Cell* [online]. 2010. Vol. 19, no. 2, p. 284–295. DOI https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2010.07.011. Available from: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1534580710003394

CIESIELSKA, Agnieszka, RUSZKOWSKI, Milosz, KASPERSKA, Alina, FEMIAK, Iwona, MICHALSKI, Zbigniew and SIKORSKI, Michał M, 2014. REVIEW PAPER
br>New insights into the signaling and function of cytokinins in higher plants. *BioTechnologia* [online]. 2014. Vol. 93, no. 4, p. 400–413. DOI 10.5114/bta.2012.46594. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.5114/bta.2012.46594

CLARKE, S F, BURRITT, D J, JAMESON, P E and GUY, P L, 1998. Influence of plant hormones on virus replication and pathogenesis-related proteins inPhaseolus vulgarisL. infected with white clover mosaic potexvirus. *Physiological and Molecular Plant Pathology* [online]. 1998. Vol. 53, no. 4, p. 195–207. DOI https://doi.org/10.1006/pmpp.1998.0175. Available from: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0885576598901758

CONRATH, Uwe, 2011. Molecular aspects of defence priming. *Trends in Plant Science* [online]. 2011. Vol. 16, no. 10, p. 524–531. DOI https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2011.06.004. Available from: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1360138511001300

DAVIES, Peter J, 1995. The Plant Hormones: Their Nature, Occurrence, and Functions. In: *Plant Hormones: Physiology, Biochemistry and Molecular Biology* [online]. Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands. p. 1–12. ISBN 978-94-011-0473-9. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-011-0473-9 1

DER ENT, Sjoerd, VAN HULTEN, Marieke, POZO, Maria J, CZECHOWSKI, Tomasz, UDVARDI, Michael K, PIETERSE, Corné M J and TON, Jurriaan, 2009. Priming of plant innate immunity by rhizobacteria and β -aminobutyric acid: differences and similarities in regulation. *New Phytologist* [online]. 2009. Vol. 183, no. 2, p. 419–431. DOI 10.1111/j.1469-8137.2009.02851.x. Available from: https://nph.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2009.02851.x

DIAS, George Alves, ROCHA, Railene Hérica Carlos, ARAÚJO, Josinaldo Lopes, DE LIMA, José Franciraldo, GUEDES, Wellinghton Alves and OTHERS, 2016. Growth, yield, and postharvest quality in eggplant produced under different foliar fertilizer (Spirulina platensis) treatments. *Semina: Ciências Agrárias*. 2016.

DUKARE, Ajinath Shridhar, PRASANNA, Radha, DUBEY, Sunil Chandra, NAIN, Lata, CHAUDHARY, Vidhi, SINGH, Rajendra and SAXENA, Anil Kumar, 2011. Evaluating novel microbe amended composts as biocontrol agents in tomato. *Crop Protection* [online]. 2011. Vol. 30, no. 4, p. 436–442. DOI https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cropro.2010.12.017. Available from:

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0261219410003790

ELOFF, J N, 1998. A Sensitive and Quick Microplate Method to Determine the Minimal Inhibitory Concentration of Plant Extracts for Bacteria. *Planta Med.* 1998. Vol. 64, no. 08, p. 711–713. DOI 10.1055/s-2006-957563.

GAJDOŠOVÁ, Silvia, SPÍCHAL, Lukáš, KAMÍNEK, Miroslav, HOYEROVÁ, Klára, NOVÁK, Ondřej, DOBREV, Petre I, GALUSZKA, Petr, KLÍMA, Petr, GAUDINOVÁ, Alena, ŽIŽKOVÁ, Eva, HANUŠ, Jan, DANČÁK, Martin, TRÁVNÍČEK, Bohumil, PEŠEK, Bedřich, KRUPIČKA, Martin, VAŇKOVÁ, Radomíra, STRNAD, Miroslav and MOTYKA, Václav, 2011. Distribution, biological activities, metabolism, and the conceivable function of cis-zeatin-type cytokinins in plants. *Journal of Experimental Botany* [online]. 2011. Vol. 62, no. 8, p. 2827–2840. DOI 10.1093/jxb/erq457. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/erq457

GARCIA-GONZALEZ, Jesus and SOMMERFELD, Milton, 2016. Biofertilizer and biostimulant properties of the microalga Acutodesmus dimorphus. . 2016. P. 1051–1061. DOI 10.1007/s10811-015-0625-2.

GHADERIARDAKANI, Fatemeh, COLLAS, Ellen, DAMIANO, Deborah Kohn, TAGG, Katherine, GRAHAM, Neil S and COATES, Juliet C, 2019. Effects of green seaweed extract on Arabidopsis early development suggest roles for hormone signalling in plant responses to algal fertilisers. *Scientific Reports* [online]. 2019. Vol. 9, no. 1, p. 1983. DOI 10.1038/s41598-018-38093-2. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-38093-2

GHOSH, Shiladitya, CHOWDHURY, Ranjana and BHATTACHARYA, Pinaki, 2016. Mixed consortia in bioprocesses: role of microbial interactions. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology* [online]. May 2016. Vol. 100, no. 10, p. 4283–4295. DOI 10.1007/s00253-016-7448-1. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-016-7448-1

GILL, Richard J, RAMOS-RODRIGUEZ, Oscar and RAINE, Nigel E, 2012. Combined pesticide exposure severely affects individual- and colony-level traits in bees. *Nature* [online]. 21 October 2012. Vol. 491, p. 105. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11585

GLAZEBROOK, Jane, 2005. Contrasting Mechanisms of Defense Against Biotrophic and Necrotrophic Pathogens. *Annual Review of Phytopathology* [online]. 2005. Vol. 43, no. 1, p. 205–227. DOI 10.1146/annurev.phyto.43.040204.135923. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.phyto.43.040204.135923

GREENE, Elizabeth M, 1980. Cytokinin production by microorganisms. *The Botanical Review* [online]. January 1980. Vol. 46, no. 1, p. 25–74. DOI 10.1007/BF02860866. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02860866

GRONDONA, I, HERMOSA, R, TEJADA, M, GOMIS, M D, MATEOS, P F, BRIDGE, P D, MONTE, E and GARCIA-ACHA, I, 1997. Physiological and biochemical characterization of Trichoderma harzianum, a biological control agent against soilborne fungal plant pathogens. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* [online]. 1 August 1997. Vol. 63, no. 8, p. 3189 LP – 3198. Available from: http://aem.asm.org/content/63/8/3189.abstract

GROSSKINSKY, Dominik, EDELSBRUNNER, Kerstin, PFEIFHOFER, Hartwig, DER GRAAFF, Eric Van and ROITSCH, Thomas, 2013. Cis- and trans-zeatin differentially modulate plant immunity. *Plant Signaling & Behavior* [online]. 2013. Vol. 8, no. 7, p. e24798. DOI 10.4161/psb.24798. Available from: https://doi.org/10.4161/psb.24798

GROSSKINSKY, Dominik K, NASEEM, Muhammad, ABDELMOHSEN, Usama Ramadan, PLICKERT, Nicole, ENGELKE, Thomas, GRIEBEL, Thomas, ZEIER, Jürgen, NOVÁK, Ondřej, STRNAD, Miroslav,

PFEIFHOFER, Hartwig, VAN DER GRAAFF, Eric, SIMON, Uwe and ROITSCH, Thomas, 2011. Cytokinins Mediate Resistance against Pseudomonas syringae in Tobacco through Increased Antimicrobial Phytoalexin Synthesis Independent of Salicylic Acid Signaling. *Plant Physiology* [online]. 1 October 2011. Vol. 157, no. 2, p. 815 LP – 830. DOI 10.1104/pp.111.182931. Available from: http://www.plantphysiol.org/content/157/2/815.abstract

GROSSKINSKY, Dominik K, TAFNER, Richard, MORENO, María V, STENGLEIN, Sebastian A, GARCÍA DE SALAMONE, Inés E, NELSON, Louise M, NOVÁK, Ondřej, STRNAD, Miroslav, VAN DER GRAAFF, Eric and ROITSCH, Thomas, 2016. Cytokinin production by Pseudomonas fluorescens G20-18 determines biocontrol activity against Pseudomonas syringae in Arabidopsis. *Scientific Reports* [online]. 17 March 2016. Vol. 6, p. 23310. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1038/srep23310

HA, Sukbong, VANKOVA, Radomira, YAMAGUCHI-SHINOZAKI, Kazuko, SHINOZAKI, Kazuo and TRAN, Lam-Son Phan, 2012. Cytokinins: metabolism and function in plant adaptation to environmental stresses. *Trends in Plant Science* [online]. 1 March 2012. Vol. 17, no. 3, p. 172–179. DOI 10.1016/j.tplants.2011.12.005. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2011.12.005

HAAS, Dieter and DÉFAGO, Geneviève, 2005. Biological control of soil-borne pathogens by fluorescent pseudomonads. *Nature Reviews Microbiology* [online]. 2005. Vol. 3, no. 4, p. 307–319. DOI 10.1038/nrmicro1129. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro1129

HAMED, Seham M, EL-RHMAN, Amal A Abd, ABDEL-RAOUF, Neveen and IBRAHEEM, Ibraheem B M, 2018. Role of marine macroalgae in plant protection & improvement for sustainable agriculture technology. *Beni-Suef University Journal of Basic and Applied Sciences* [online]. 2018. Vol. 7, no. 1, p. 104–110. DOI https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bjbas.2017.08.002. Available from: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2314853517301294

HELLIO, C, BREMER, G, PONS, A M, LE GAL, Y and BOURGOUGNON, N, 2000. Inhibition of the development of microorganisms (bacteria and fungi) by extracts of marine algae from Brittany, France. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology* [online]. October 2000. Vol. 54, no. 4, p. 543–549. DOI 10.1007/s002530000413. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/s002530000413

HOLZINGER, Andreas and PICHRTOVÁ, Martina, 2016. Abiotic Stress Tolerance of Charophyte Green Algae: New Challenges for Omics Techniques. *Frontiers in Plant Science* [online]. 2016. Vol. 7, p. 678. DOI 10.3389/fpls.2016.00678. Available from: https://www.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fpls.2016.00678

HUSSAIN, Anwar, KRISCHKE, Markus, ROITSCH, Thomas and HASNAIN, Shahida, 2010. Rapid Determination of Cytokinins and Auxin in Cyanobacteria. *Current Microbiology* [online]. November 2010. Vol. 61, no. 5, p. 361–369. DOI 10.1007/s00284-010-9620-7. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/s00284-010-9620-7

HWANG, Ildoo, SHEEN, Jen and MÜLLER, Bruno, 2012. Cytokinin Signaling Networks. *Annual Review of Plant Biology* [online]. 2012. Vol. 63, no. 1, p. 353–380. DOI 10.1146/annurev-arplant-042811-105503. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-arplant-042811-105503

JAULNEAU, V, LAFITTE, C, JACQUET, C, FOURNIER, S, SALAMAGNE, S, BRIAND, X, ESQUERRÉ-TUGAYÉ, M T and DUMAS, B, 2010. Ulvan, a sulfated polysaccharide from green algae, activates plant immunity through the jasmonic acid signaling pathway. *Journal of Biomedicine & Compression States*, 2010. Vol. 2010, p. Article ID 525291.

JIRÁSKOVÁ, Darina, POULÍČKOVÁ, Aloisie, NOVÁK, Ondřej, SEDLÁKOVÁ, Kamila, HRADECKÁ, Veronika and STRNAD, Miroslav, 2009. HIGH-THROUGHPUT SCREENING TECHNOLOGY FOR MONITORING PHYTOHORMONE PRODUCTION IN MICROALGAE1. *Journal of Phycology* [online].

2009. Vol. 45, no. 1, p. 108–118. DOI 10.1111/j.1529-8817.2008.00615.x. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/j.1529-8817.2008.00615.x

JONES, Jonathan D G and DANGL, Jeffery L, 2006. The plant immune system. *Nature* [online]. 2006. Vol. 444, no. 7117, p. 323–329. DOI 10.1038/nature05286. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1038/nature05286

KASAHARA, Hiroyuki, TAKEI, Kentaro, UEDA, Nanae, HISHIYAMA, Shojiro, YAMAYA, Tomoyuki, KAMIYA, Yuji, YAMAGUCHI, Shinjiro and SAKAKIBARA, Hitoshi, 2004. Distinct Isoprenoid Origins of cis- and trans-Zeatin Biosyntheses in Arabidopsis. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* [online]. 2004. Vol. 279, no. 14, p. 14049–14054. DOI 10.1074/jbc.M314195200. Available from: http://www.jbc.org/content/279/14/14049.abstract

KATAGIRI, Fumiaki, THILMONY, Roger and HE, Sheng Yang, 2002. The Arabidopsis thalianapseudomonas syringae interaction. *The arabidopsis book* [online]. 2002. Vol. 1, p. e0039. DOI 10.1199/tab.0039. Available from: http://europepmc.org/articles/PMC3243347

KHOLSSI, Rajaa, MARKS, Evan A N, MIÑÓN, Jorge, MONTERO, Olimpio, DEBDOUBI, Abderrahmane and RAD, Carlos, 2019. Biofertilizing Effect of Chlorella sorokiniana Suspensions on Wheat Growth. *Journal of Plant Growth Regulation* [online]. June 2019. Vol. 38, no. 2, p. 644–649. DOI 10.1007/s00344-018-9879-7. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/s00344-018-9879-7

KIEBER, Joseph J and SCHALLER, G Eric, 2014. Cytokinins. *The arabidopsis book* [online]. January 2014. Vol. 12, p. e0168. DOI 10.1199/tab.0168. Available from: http://europepmc.org/articles/PMC3894907

KIM, Jiyoung and KIM, Jeong-Dong, 2008. Inhibitory Effect of Algal Extracts on Mycelial Growth of the Tomato-Wilt Pathogen, Fusarium oxysporum f. sp. lycopersici. *Mycobiology* [online]. 2008. Vol. 36, no. 4, p. 242–248. DOI 10.4489/MYCO.2008.36.4.242. Available from: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.4489/MYCO.2008.36.4.242

KIRSCHNER, Gwendolyn K, STAHL, Yvonne, IMANI, Jafargholi, VON KORFF, Maria and SIMON, Rüdiger, 2018. Fluorescent reporter lines for auxin and cytokinin signalling in barley (Hordeum vulgare). *PLOS ONE* [online]. 2018. Vol. 13, no. 4, p. 1–25. DOI 10.1371/journal.pone.0196086. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0196086

KLANČNIK, Anja, PISKERNIK, Saša, JERŠEK, Barbara and MOŽINA, Sonja Smole, 2010. Evaluation of diffusion and dilution methods to determine the antibacterial activity of plant extracts. *Journal of Microbiological Methods* [online]. 2010. Vol. 81, no. 2, p. 121–126. DOI https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mimet.2010.02.004. Available from: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0167701210000618

KLARZYNSKI, Olivier, DESCAMPS, Valérie, PLESSE, Bertrand, YVIN, Jean-Claude, KLOAREG, Bernard and FRITIG, Bernard, 2003. Sulfated Fucan Oligosaccharides Elicit Defense Responses in Tobacco and Local and Systemic Resistance Against Tobacco Mosaic Virus. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* [online]. 2003. Vol. 16, no. 2, p. 115–122. DOI 10.1094/MPMI.2003.16.2.115. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1094/MPMI.2003.16.2.115

KULIK, Martin M, 1995. The potential for using cyanobacteria (blue-green algae) and algae in the biological control of plant pathogenic bacteria and fungi. *European Journal of Plant Pathology* [online]. November 1995. Vol. 101, no. 6, p. 585–599. DOI 10.1007/BF01874863. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01874863

KUMAR, Murugan, KARTHIKEYAN, Nanjappan and PRASANNA, Radha, 2016. Priming of Plant Defense and Plant Growth in Disease-Challenged Crops Using Microbial Consortia. In: *Microbial-mediated Induced*

Systemic Resistance in Plants [online]. Singapore: Springer Singapore. p. 39–56. ISBN 978-981-10-0388-2. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-0388-2 4

LEE, Jae-Yon, YOO, Chan, JUN, So-Young, AHN, Chi-Yong and OH, Hee-Mock, 2010. Comparison of several methods for effective lipid extraction from microalgae. *Bioresource Technology* [online]. 2010. Vol. 101, no. 1, Supplement, p. S75–S77. DOI https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2009.03.058. Available from: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0960852409003149

LI, Xiaobo, PATENA, Weronika, FAUSER, Friedrich, JINKERSON, Robert E, SAROUSSI, Shai, MEYER, Moritz T, IVANOVA, Nina, ROBERTSON, Jacob M, YUE, Rebecca, ZHANG, Ru, VILARRASA-BLASI, Josep, WITTKOPP, Tyler M, RAMUNDO, Silvia, BLUM, Sean R, GOH, Audrey, LAUDON, Matthew, SRIKUMAR, Tharan, LEFEBVRE, Paul A, GROSSMAN, Arthur R and JONIKAS, Martin C, 2019. A genome-wide algal mutant library and functional screen identifies genes required for eukaryotic photosynthesis. *Nature Genetics* [online]. 2019. Vol. 51, no. 4, p. 627–635. DOI 10.1038/s41588-019-0370-6. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41588-019-0370-6

LI, Xiaobo, ZHANG, Ru, PATENA, Weronika, GANG, Spencer S, BLUM, Sean R, IVANOVA, Nina, YUE, Rebecca, ROBERTSON, Jacob M, LEFEBVRE, Paul A, FITZ-GIBBON, Sorel T, GROSSMAN, Arthur R and JONIKAS, Martin C, 2016. An Indexed, Mapped Mutant Library Enables Reverse Genetics Studies of Biological Processes in Chlamydomonas reinhardtii. *The Plant Cell* [online]. 2016. Vol. 28, no. 2, p. 367–387. DOI 10.1105/tpc.15.00465. Available from: http://www.plantcell.org/content/28/2/367

LUCAS, J A, SOLANO, B Ramos, MONTES, F, OJEDA, J, MEGIAS, M and MAÑERO, F J Gutierrez, 2009. Use of two PGPR strains in the integrated management of blast disease in rice (Oryza sativa) in Southern Spain. *Field Crops Research* [online]. 2009. Vol. 114, no. 3, p. 404–410. DOI https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fcr.2009.09.013. Available from: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378429009002482

MAHAN, Kristina M, ODORN, Obed W and HERRIN, David L, 2005. Controlling fungal contamination in Chlamydomonas reinhardtii cultures. *BioTechniques* [online]. 2005. Vol. 39, no. 4, p. 457–458. DOI 10.2144/000112022. Available from: https://doi.org/10.2144/000112022

MARIMUTHU, Subbaiyan, RAMAMOORTHY, Vellaisamy, SAMIYAPPAN, Ramasamy and SUBBIAN, Pattiyappa, 2013. Intercropping System with Combined Application of Azospirillum and Pseudomonas fluorescens Reduces Root Rot Incidence Caused by Rhizoctonia bataticola and Increases Seed Cotton Yield. *Journal of Phytopathology* [online]. 2013. Vol. 161, no. 6, p. 405–411. DOI 10.1111/jph.12084. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/jph.12084

MCMILLAN, Jonathan R, WATSON, Ian A, ALI, Mehmood and JAAFAR, Weaam, 2013. Evaluation and comparison of algal cell disruption methods: Microwave, waterbath, blender, ultrasonic and laser treatment. *Applied Energy* [online]. 2013. Vol. 103, p. 128–134. DOI https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2012.09.020. Available from: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0306261912006605

MERCIER, Laurence, LAFITTE, Claude, BORDERIES, Gisèle, BRIAND, Xavier, ESQUERRÉ-TUGAYÉ, Marie-Thérèse and FOURNIER, Joëlle, 2001. The algal polysaccharide carrageenans can act as an elicitor of plant defence. *New Phytologist* [online]. 2001. Vol. 149, no. 1, p. 43–51. DOI 10.1046/j.1469-8137.2001.00011.x. Available from: https://nph.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1046/j.1469-8137.2001.00011.x

MICHALAK, Izabela and CHOJNACKA, Katarzyna, 2015. Algae as production systems of bioactive compounds. *Engineering in Life Sciences* [online]. 2015. Vol. 15, no. 2, p. 160–176. DOI 10.1002/elsc.201400191. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/elsc.201400191

MICHALAK, Izabela, CHOJNACKA, Katarzyna, DMYTRYK, Agnieszka, WILK, Radosław, GRAMZA, Mateusz and RÓJ, Edward, 2016. Evaluation of Supercritical Extracts of Algae as Biostimulants of Plant Growth in Field Trials. *Frontiers in Plant Science* [online]. 2016. Vol. 7, p. 1591. DOI 10.3389/fpls.2016.01591. Available from: https://www.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fpls.2016.01591

NASEEM, Muhammad, KALTDORF, Martin and DANDEKAR, Thomas, 2015. The nexus between growth and defence signalling: auxin and cytokinin modulate plant immune response pathways. *Journal of Experimental Botany* [online]. 2015. Vol. 66, no. 16, p. 4885–4896. DOI 10.1093/jxb/erv297. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/erv297

O'BRIEN, Jose and BENKOVA, Eva, 2013. Cytokinin cross-talking during biotic and abiotic stress responses. *Frontiers in Plant Science* [online]. 2013. Vol. 4, p. 451. DOI 10.3389/fpls.2013.00451. Available from: https://www.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fpls.2013.00451

OERKE, E.-C., 2006. Crop losses to pests. *The Journal of Agricultural Science*. 2006. Vol. 144, no. 1, p. 31–43. DOI 10.1017/S0021859605005708.

ORTÍZ-CASTRO, Randy, VALENCIA-CANTERO, Eduardo and LÓPEZ-BUCIO, José, 2008. Plant growth promotion by Bacillus megaterium involves cytokinin signaling. *Plant Signaling & Behavior* [online]. 2008. Vol. 3, no. 4, p. 263–265. DOI 10.4161/psb.3.4.5204. Available from: https://doi.org/10.4161/psb.3.4.5204

PAREKH, Jigna and CHANDA, Sumitra, 2007. In vitro antibacterial activity of the crude methanol extract of Woodfordia fruticosa Kurz. flower (Lythraceae). *Brazilian Journal of Microbiology* [online]. 2007. Vol. 38, p. 204–207. Available from: http://www.scielo.br/scielo.php?script=sci_arttext&pid=S1517-83822007000200004&nrm=iso

PARK, Won-Kun, YOO, Gursong, MOON, Myounghoon, KIM, Chul Woong, CHOI, Yoon-E and YANG, Ji-Won, 2013. Phytohormone Supplementation Significantly Increases Growth of Chlamydomonas reinhardtii Cultivated for Biodiesel Production. *Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology* [online]. November 2013. Vol. 171, no. 5, p. 1128–1142. DOI 10.1007/s12010-013-0386-9. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/s12010-013-0386-9

PARK, Yeon-Gyeong, MUN, Bong-Gyu, KANG, Sang-Mo, HUSSAIN, Adil, SHAHZAD, Raheem, SEO, Chang-Woo, KIM, Ah-Yeong, LEE, Sang-Uk, OH, Kyeong Yeol, LEE, Dong Yeol, LEE, In-Jung and YUN, Byung-Wook, 2017. Bacillus aryabhattai SRB02 tolerates oxidative and nitrosative stress and promotes the growth of soybean by modulating the production of phytohormones. *PLOS ONE* [online]. 2017. Vol. 12, no. 3, p. 1–28. DOI 10.1371/journal.pone.0173203. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0173203

PAUDEL, Y P, PRADHAN, S, PANT, B and PRASAD, B N, 2012. Role of blue green algae in rice productivity. *Agriculture and Biology Journal of North America*. 2012. Vol. 3, no. 8, p. 332–335.

PAULERT, R, TALAMINI, V, CASSOLATO, J E F, DUARTE, M E R, NOSEDA, M D, SMANIA, A and STADNIK, M J, 2009. Effects of sulfated polysaccharide and alcoholic extracts from green seaweed Ulva fasciata on anthracnose severity and growth of common bean (Phaseolus vulgaris L.). *Journal of Plant Diseases and Protection* [online]. December 2009. Vol. 116, no. 6, p. 263–270. DOI 10.1007/BF03356321. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03356321

PELEG, Zvi, REGUERA, Maria, TUMIMBANG, Ellen, WALIA, Harkamal and BLUMWALD, Eduardo, 2011. Cytokinin-mediated source/sink modifications improve drought tolerance and increase grain yield in rice under water-stress. *Plant Biotechnology Journal* [online]. 2011. Vol. 9, no. 7, p. 747–758. DOI 10.1111/j.1467-7652.2010.00584.x. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/j.1467-7652.2010.00584.x

PIETERSE, Corné M J, DER DOES, Dieuwertje, ZAMIOUDIS, Christos, LEON-REYES, Antonio and VAN WEES, Saskia C M, 2012. Hormonal Modulation of Plant Immunity. *Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology* [online]. 2012. Vol. 28, no. 1, p. 489–521. DOI 10.1146/annurev-cellbio-092910-154055. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-cellbio-092910-154055

PRASANNA, Radha, BIDYARANI, Ngangom, BABU, Santosh, HOSSAIN, Firoz, SHIVAY, Yashbir Singh and NAIN, Lata, 2015. Cyanobacterial inoculation elicits plant defense response and enhanced Zn mobilization in maize hybrids. *Cogent Food & Agriculture* [online]. 2015. Vol. 1, no. 1, p. 998507. DOI 10.1080/23311932.2014.998507. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1080/23311932.2014.998507

PRASANNA, Radha, CHAUDHARY, Vidhi, GUPTA, Vishal, BABU, Santosh, KUMAR, Arun, SINGH, Rajendra, SHIVAY, Yashbir Singh and NAIN, Lata, 2013. Cyanobacteria mediated plant growth promotion and bioprotection against Fusarium wilt in tomato. *European Journal of Plant Pathology* [online]. June 2013. Vol. 136, no. 2, p. 337–353. DOI 10.1007/s10658-013-0167-x. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10658-013-0167-x

PRIYA, Himani, PRASANNA, Radha, RAMAKRISHNAN, Balasubramanian, BIDYARANI, Ngangom, BABU, Santosh, THAPA, Shobit and RENUKA, Nirmal, 2015. Influence of cyanobacterial inoculation on the culturable microbiome and growth of rice. *Microbiological Research* [online]. 2015. Vol. 171, p. 78–89. DOI https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micres.2014.12.011. Available from: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0944501314001591

RAN, F Ann, HSU, Patrick D, WRIGHT, Jason, AGARWALA, Vineeta, SCOTT, David A and ZHANG, Feng, 2013. Genome engineering using the CRISPR-Cas9 system. *Nature Protocols* [online]. 24 October 2013. Vol. 8, p. 2281. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2013.143

RAY, Deepak K, MUELLER, Nathaniel D, WEST, Paul C and FOLEY, Jonathan A, 2013. Yield Trends Are Insufficient to Double Global Crop Production by 2050. *PLOS ONE* [online]. 2013. Vol. 8, no. 6, p. 1–8. DOI 10.1371/journal.pone.0066428. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0066428

REGUERA, Maria, PELEG, Zvi, ABDEL-TAWAB, Yasser M, TUMIMBANG, Ellen B, DELATORRE, Carla A and BLUMWALD, Eduardo, 2013. Stress-Induced Cytokinin Synthesis Increases Drought Tolerance through the Coordinated Regulation of Carbon and Nitrogen Assimilation in Rice. *Plant Physiology* [online]. 2013. Vol. 163, no. 4, p. 1609–1622. DOI 10.1104/pp.113.227702. Available from: http://www.plantphysiol.org/content/163/4/1609

RENUKA, Nirmal, GULDHE, Abhishek, PRASANNA, Radha, SINGH, Poonam and BUX, Faizal, 2018.Microalgae as multi-functional options in modern agriculture: current trends, prospects and challenges.BiotechnologyAdvances[online].2018.Vol. 36,no. 4,p. 1255–1273.DOI https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biotechadv.2018.04.004.Availablehttp://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0734975018300764

RICO, Arantza and PRESTON, Gail M, 2008. Pseudomonas syringae pv. tomato DC3000 Uses Constitutive and Apoplast-Induced Nutrient Assimilation Pathways to Catabolize Nutrients That Are Abundant in the Tomato Apoplast. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* [online]. 2008. Vol. 21, no. 2, p. 269–282. DOI 10.1094/MPMI-21-2-0269. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1094/MPMI-21-2-0269

RIVERO, Rosa M, SHULAEV, Vladimir and BLUMWALD, Eduardo, 2009. Cytokinin-Dependent Photorespiration and the Protection of Photosynthesis during Water Deficit. *Plant Physiology* [online]. 2009. Vol. 150, no. 3, p. 1530–1540. DOI 10.1104/pp.109.139378. Available from: http://www.plantphysiol.org/content/150/3/1530 RIZWAN, Muhammad, MUJTABA, Ghulam, MEMON, Sheraz Ahmed, LEE, Kisay and RASHID, Naim, 2018. Exploring the potential of microalgae for new biotechnology applications and beyond: A review. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews* [online]. 2018. Vol. 92, p. 394–404. DOI https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2018.04.034. Available from: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1364032118302557

ROBERTI, R, GALLETTI, S, BURZI, P L, RIGHINI, H, CETRULLO, S and PEREZ, C, 2015. Induction of defence responses in zucchini (Cucurbita pepo) by Anabaena sp. water extract. *Biological Control* [online]. 2015. Vol. 82, p. 61–68. DOI https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocontrol.2014.12.006. Available from: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1049964414002461

ROITSCH, T and EHNESS, R, 2000. Regulation of source/sink relations by cytokinins. *Plant Growth Regulation* [online]. November 2000. Vol. 32, no. 2, p. 359–367. DOI 10.1023/A:1010781500705. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1010781500705

ROITSCH, Thomas and GONZÁLEZ, Mari-Cruz, 2004. Function and regulation of plant invertases: sweetsensations.Trends in Plant Science [online]. 2004. Vol. 9, no. 12, p. 606–613.DOI https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2004.10.009.Availablehttp://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S136013850400250X

SAKAKIBARA, Hitoshi, 2006. CYTOKININS: Activity, Biosynthesis, and Translocation. *Annual Review of Plant Biology* [online]. 2006. Vol. 57, no. 1, p. 431–449. DOI 10.1146/annurev.arplant.57.032905.105231. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.arplant.57.032905.105231

SARMA, B K, SINGH, D P, MEHTA, S, SINGH, H B and SINGH, U P, 2002. Plant Growth-Promoting Rhizobacteria-Elicited Alterations in Phenolic Profile of Chickpea (Cicer arietinum) Infected by Sclerotium rolfsii. *Journal of Phytopathology* [online]. 2002. Vol. 150, no. 4-5, p. 277–282. DOI 10.1046/j.1439-0434.2002.00755.x. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1046/j.1439-0434.2002.00755.x

SHANKS, Carly M, RICE, J Hollis, ZUBO, Yan, SCHALLER, G Eric, HEWEZI, Tarek and KIEBER, Joseph J, 2016. The Role of Cytokinin During Infection of Arabidopsis thaliana by the Cyst Nematode Heterodera schachtii. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* [online]. 2016. Vol. 29, no. 1, p. 57–68. DOI 10.1094/MPMI-07-15-0156-R. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1094/MPMI-07-15-0156-R

SHIGENAGA, Alexandra M and ARGUESO, Cristiana T, 2016. No hormone to rule them all: Interactions of plant hormones during the responses of plants to pathogens. *Seminars in Cell & Developmental Biology* [online]. 2016. Vol. 56, p. 174–189. DOI https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semcdb.2016.06.005. Available from: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1084952116301677

SINGH, Rachana, PARIHAR, Parul, SINGH, Madhulika, BAJGUZ, Andrzej, KUMAR, Jitendra, SINGH, Samiksha, SINGH, Vijay P and PRASAD, Sheo M, 2017. Uncovering Potential Applications of Cyanobacteria and Algal Metabolites in Biology, Agriculture and Medicine: Current Status and Future Prospects. *Frontiers in Microbiology* [online]. 2017. Vol. 8, p. 515. DOI 10.3389/fmicb.2017.00515. Available from: https://www.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fmicb.2017.00515

STADNIK, Marciel J and FREITAS, Mateus B de, 2014. Algal polysaccharides as source of plant resistance inducers. *Tropical Plant Pathology* [online]. 2014. Vol. 39, p. 111–118. Available from: http://www.scielo.br/scielo.php?script=sci_arttext&pid=S1982-56762014000200001&nrm=iso

STIRK, Wendy A, ÖRDÖG, Vince, NOVÁK, Ondřej, ROLČÍK, Jakub, STRNAD, Miroslav, BÁLINT, Péter and VAN STADEN, Johannes, 2013. Auxin and cytokinin relationships in 24 microalgal strains1. *Journal of Phycology* [online]. 2013. Vol. 49, no. 3, p. 459–467. DOI 10.1111/jpy.12061. Available from:

https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/jpy.12061

SWARNALAKSHMI, Karivaradharajan, PRASANNA, Radha, KUMAR, Arun, PATTNAIK, Sasmita, CHAKRAVARTY, Kalyana, SHIVAY, Yashbir Singh, SINGH, Rajendra and SAXENA, Anil Kumar, 2013. Evaluating the influence of novel cyanobacterial biofilmed biofertilizers on soil fertility and plant nutrition in European Journal of Soil Biology [online]. 2013. Vol. 55, p. 107–116. wheat. DOI https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejsobi.2012.12.008. Available from: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1164556313000034

TIAN, Bao-jing, WANG, Yong, ZHU, Ye-rong, LÜ, Xian-yu, HUANG, Kaiyao, SHAO, Ning and BECK, Christoph F, 2006. Synthesis of the photorespiratory key enzyme serine: glyoxylate aminotransferase in C. reinhardtii is modulated by the light regime and cytokinin. *Physiologia Plantarum* [online]. 2006. Vol. 127, no. 4, p. 571–582. DOI 10.1111/j.1399-3054.2006.00691.x. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/j.1399-3054.2006.00691.x

TRAN, Lam-Son Phan, URAO, Takeshi, QIN, Feng, MARUYAMA, Kyonoshin, KAKIMOTO, Tatsuo, SHINOZAKI, Kazuo and YAMAGUCHI-SHINOZAKI, Kazuko, 2007. Functional analysis of AHK1/ATHK1 and cytokinin receptor histidine kinases in response to abscisic acid, drought, and salt stress in Arabidopsis *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* [online]. 18 December 2007. Vol. 104, no. 51, p. 20623 LP – 20628. DOI 10.1073/pnas.0706547105. Available from: http://www.pnas.org/content/104/51/20623.abstract

VERA, Jeannette, CASTRO, Jorge, GONZALEZ, Alberto and MOENNE, Alejandra, 2011. Seaweed Polysaccharides and Derived Oligosaccharides Stimulate Defense Responses and Protection Against Pathogens in Plants. *Marine Drugs* [online]. 2011. Vol. 9, no. 12, p. 2514–2525. DOI 10.3390/md9122514. Available from: https://www.mdpi.com/1660-3397/9/12/2514

VERHAGE, Adriaan, VAN WEES, Saskia C M and PIETERSE, Corné M J, 2010. Plant Immunity: It{\textquoteright}s the Hormones Talking, But What Do They Say? *Plant Physiology* [online]. 2010. Vol. 154, no. 2, p. 536–540. DOI 10.1104/pp.110.161570. Available from: http://www.plantphysiol.org/content/154/2/536

WALTERS, Dale R and MCROBERTS, Neil, 2006. Plants and biotrophs: a pivotal role for cytokinins? TrendsinPlantScience[online].2006.Vol. 11,no. 12,p. 581–586.DOI https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2006.10.003.Availablefrom:http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1360138506002780From:From:

WANG, Liang, YANG, Fengyuan, CHEN, Huiyi, FAN, Zhiyue, ZHOU, Yongkang, LU, Jun and ZHENG, Yuanlin, 2016. Antimicrobial cocktails to control bacterial and fungal contamination in Chlamydomonas reinhardtii cultures. *BioTechniques* [online]. 2016. Vol. 60, no. 3, p. 145–149. DOI 10.2144/000114392. Available from: https://www.future-science.com/doi/abs/10.2144/000114392

WEES, Saskia C M Van, DER ENT, Sjoerd Van and PIETERSE, Corné M J, 2008. Plant immune responses triggered by beneficial microbes. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* [online]. 2008. Vol. 11, no. 4, p. 443–448. DOI https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbi.2008.05.005. Available from: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1369526608001003

WHITELAW-WECKERT, M A, WHITELAW, E S, ROGIERS, S Y, QUIRK, L, CLARK, A C and HUANG, C X, 2011. Bacterial inflorescence rot of grapevine caused by Pseudomonas syringae pv. syringae. *Plant Pathology* [online]. 2011. Vol. 60, no. 2, p. 325–337. DOI 10.1111/j.1365-3059.2010.02377.x. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/j.1365-3059.2010.02377.x

WIN, Theint Theint, BARONE, Giovanni Davide, SECUNDO, Francesco and FU, Pengcheng, 2018. Algal

Biofertilizers and Plant Growth Stimulants for Sustainable Agriculture. *Industrial Biotechnology* [online]. 2018. Vol. 14, no. 4, p. 203–211. DOI 10.1089/ind.2018.0010. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1089/ind.2018.0010

WU, Cindy H, BERNARD, Stéphanie M, ANDERSEN, Gary L and CHEN, Wilfred, 2009. Developing microbe–plant interactions for applications in plant-growth promotion and disease control, production of useful compounds, remediation and carbon sequestration. *Microbial Biotechnology* [online]. 2009. Vol. 2, no. 4, p. 428–440. DOI 10.1111/j.1751-7915.2009.00109.x. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/j.1751-7915.2009.00109.x

WUANG, Shy Chyi, KHIN, Mar Cho, CHUA, Pei Qiang Danny and LUO, Yanpei Darren, 2016. Use of Spirulina biomass produced from treatment of aquaculture wastewater as agricultural fertilizers. *Algal Research* [online]. 2016. Vol. 15, p. 59–64. DOI https://doi.org/10.1016/j.algal.2016.02.009. Available from: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2211926416300480

WYBOUW, Brecht and RYBEL, Bert De, 2019. Cytokinin – A Developing Story. *Trends in Plant Science* [online]. 2019. Vol. 24, no. 2, p. 177–185. DOI https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2018.10.012. Available from: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1360138518302450

ŽIŽKOVÁ, Eva, KUBEŠ, Martin, DOBREV, Petre I, PŘIBYL, Pavel, ŠIMURA, Jan, ZAHAJSKÁ, Lenka, ZÁVESKÁ DRÁBKOVÁ, Lenka, NOVÁK, Ondřej and MOTYKA, Václav, 2016. Control of cytokinin and auxin homeostasis in cyanobacteria and algae. *Annals of Botany* [online]. 2016. Vol. 119, no. 1, p. 151–166. DOI 10.1093/aob/mcw194. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/aob/mcw194

ZWACK, Paul J and RASHOTTE, Aaron M, 2015. Interactions between cytokinin signalling and abiotic stress responses. *Journal of Experimental Botany* [online]. 2015. Vol. 66, no. 16, p. 4863–4871. DOI 10.1093/jxb/erv172. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/erv172